
 

If you would like help to understand this document, or would like it in 
another format, please call David Penrose, Governance Services on 
01432 383690 or e-mail dpenrose@herefordshire.gov.uk in advance of 
the meeting. 

 

 

 
 
AGENDA 
 
Health & Social Care Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee 
 

 

Date: Wednesday 22 July 2015 

Time: 9.30 am 

Place: Council Chamber, Shire Hall, Hereford 

Notes: Please note the time, date and venue of the meeting. 

For any further information please contact: 

David Penrose, Governance Services 
Tel: 01432 383690 
Email: dpenrose@herefordshire.gov.uk 

 
 

 



 

 

Agenda for the Meeting of the Health & Social 
Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
Membership  
  
Chairman Councillor PA Andrews 
Vice-Chairman Councillor J Stone 
   
 Councillor ACR Chappell  
 Councillor PE Crockett  
 Councillor CA Gandy  
 Councillor DG Harlow  
 Councillor JF Johnson  
 Councillor MD Lloyd-Hayes  
 Councillor MT McEvilly  
 Councillor PD Newman OBE  
 Councillor A Seldon  
 Councillor NE Shaw  
 Councillor D Summers  
 
 



HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL  22 JULY 2015 
 

 

AGENDA  
 Pages 
  

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

 

 To receive apologies for absence. 
 

 

2. NAMED SUBSTITUTES (IF ANY) 
 

 

 To receive details of any Members nominated to attend the meeting in place 
of a Member of the Committee. 
 

 

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

 

 To receive any declarations of interest by Members in respect of items on the 
Agenda. 
 

 

4. MINUTES 
 

9 - 12 

 To approve and sign the Minutes of the meeting held on 7 June 2015. 
 

 

5. SUGGESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC ON ISSUES FOR 
FUTURE SCRUTINY 
 

 

 To consider suggestions from members of the public on issues the 
Committee could scrutinise in the future. 
 
(There will be no discussion of the issue at the time when the matter is raised.  
Consideration will be given to whether it should form part of the Committee’s work 
programme when compared with other competing priorities.) 
 

 

6. QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC 
 

 

 To note questions received from the public and the items to which they 
relate. 
 
(Questions are welcomed for consideration at a Scrutiny Committee meeting so long as 
the question is directly related to an item listed on the agenda.  If you have a question 
you would like to ask then please submit it no later than two working days before the 
meeting to the Committee Officer.  This will help to ensure that an answer can be 
provided at the meeting).   
 

 

7. WYE VALLEY NHS TRUST 
 

13 - 18 

 To receive an updated report on progress at the County Hospital following 
the intervention by the Care Quality Commission.  
 

 

8. MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES INTEGRATED PATHWAY 
 

19 - 26 

 To receive a presentation on the joint project to develop an integrated 
pathway for mental health services. 
 

 

9. CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLES PLAN 
 

27 - 84 

 To seek the comments of the Committee on the Children and Young 
People’s Partnership Plan 2015-2018. 
 

 

10. HEALTHWATCH HEREFORDSHIRE 
 

 

 To receive a report on issues of concern to Healthwatch Herefordshire. 
 

 

11. WORK PROGRAMME 
 

85 - 96 

 To consider the Committee’s work programme for the year and to allocate 
activities to task and finish groups, as deemed necessary. 
 

 





PUBLIC INFORMATION 

Public Involvement at Scrutiny Committee Meetings 

You can contact Councillors and Officers at any time about Scrutiny 
Committee matters and issues which you would like the Scrutiny 
Committee to investigate.  

There are also two other ways in which you can directly contribute at 
Herefordshire Council’s Scrutiny Committee meetings. 

1. Identifying Areas for Scrutiny 

At the meeting the Chairman will ask the members of the public present 
if they have any issues which they would like the Scrutiny Committee to 
investigate, however, there will be no discussion of the issue at the time 
when the matter is raised.  Councillors will research the issue and 
consider whether it should form part of the Committee’s work 
programme when compared with other competing priorities. 

2. Questions from Members of the Public for Consideration at 
Scrutiny Committee Meetings and Participation at Meetings 

You can submit a question for consideration at a Scrutiny Committee 
meeting so long as the question you are asking is directly related to an 
item listed on the agenda.  If you have a question you would like to ask 
then please submit it no later than two working days before the 
meeting to the Committee Officer.  This will help to ensure that an 
answer can be provided at the meeting.  Contact details for the 
Committee Officer can be found on the front page of this agenda.   

Generally, members of the public will also be able to contribute to the 
discussion at the meeting.  This will be at the Chairman’s discretion.   

(Please note that the Scrutiny Committee is not able to discuss 
questions relating to personal or confidential issues.) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

5



The Public’s Rights to Information and Attendance at Meetings  
 
YOU HAVE A RIGHT TO: - 
 

• Attend all Council, Cabinet, Committee and Sub-Committee meetings unless the business 
to be transacted would disclose ‘confidential’ or ‘exempt’ information. 

• Inspect agenda and public reports at least five clear days before the date of the meeting. 

• Inspect minutes of the Council and all Committees and Sub-Committees and written 
statements of decisions taken by the Cabinet or individual Cabinet Members for up to six 
years following a meeting. 

• Inspect background papers used in the preparation of public reports for a period of up to 
four years from the date of the meeting.  (A list of the background papers to a report is 
given at the end of each report).  A background paper is a document on which the officer 
has relied in writing the report and which otherwise is not available to the public. 

• Access to a public Register stating the names, addresses and wards of all Councillors with 
details of the membership of Cabinet and of all Committees and Sub-Committees. 

• Have a reasonable number of copies of agenda and reports (relating to items to be 
considered in public) made available to the public attending meetings of the Council, 
Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees. 

• Have access to a list specifying those powers on which the Council have delegated 
decision making to their officers identifying the officers concerned by title. 

• Copy any of the documents mentioned above to which you have a right of access, subject 
to a reasonable charge (20p per sheet subject to a maximum of £5.00 per agenda plus a 
nominal fee of £1.50 for postage).  Agenda can be found at 
www.herefordshire.gov.uk/meetings 

• Please note that filming, photography and recording of meetings is permitted provided 
that it does not disrupt the business of the meeting. 

 
• The reporting of meetings is subject to the law and it is the responsibility of those doing the 

reporting to ensure that they comply. 

• Access to this summary of your rights as members of the public to attend meetings of the 
Council, Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees and to inspect and copy documents. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

6



 
HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL 

 
 

SHIRE HALL, ST PETER’S SQUARE, HEREFORD, HR1 2HX. 
 
 

FIRE AND EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE 
 

 

In the event of a fire or emergency the alarm bell will ring 
continuously. 

You should vacate the building in an orderly manner through 
the nearest available fire exit. 

You should then proceed to the Assembly Point which is 
located in the car park at the front of the building.  A check will 
be undertaken to ensure that those recorded as present have 
vacated the building following which further instructions will be 
given. 

Please do not allow any items of clothing, etc. to obstruct any of 
the exits. 

Do not delay your vacation of the building by stopping or 
returning to collect coats or other personal belongings. 

7



8



HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL 

MINUTES of the meeting of Health & Social Care Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee held at Chamber, Shire Hall, Hereford on 
Tuesday 9 June 2015 at 2.00 pm 
  

Present: Councillor PA Andrews (Chairman) 
Councillor J Stone (Vice Chairman) 

   
 Councillors: Crockett, CA Gandy, DG Harlow, JF Johnson, MD Lloyd-Hayes, 

PD Newman OBE, AJW Powers, A Seldon and EJ Swinglehurst 
 
  
In attendance: Councillor PM Morgan (Cabinet Member, Health and Wellbeing) 
  
   
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

 
Apologies were received from Councillors MT McEvilly, NE Shaw and D Summers. 
 

2. NAMED SUBSTITUTES (IF ANY)   
 
Councillor AJW Powers for Councillor D Summers and Councillor EJ Swinglehurst for 
Councillor NE Shaw. 
 

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

4. MINUTES   
 
The Minutes of the Meeting held on the 24 March 2015 were approved and signed as a 
correct record. 
 

5. SUGGESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC ON ISSUES FOR FUTURE 
SCRUTINY   
 
There were no suggestions from members of the public. 
 

6. QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC   
 
There were no questions from members of the public. 
 

7. ACCOUNTABILITY SESSION: WEST MIDLANDS AMBULANCE SERVICE   
 
The Committee received a presentation from Michelle Brotherton, General Manager West 
Mercia (Herefordshire, Shropshire and Worcestershire) West Midlands Ambulance NHS 
Foundation Trust.  Following her presentation, the following issues were addressed: 
 
In reply to a Member’s question regarding sickness figures, it was stated that the figure of 
4.30% for the year was for the whole of Herefordshire, with a large percentage of sickness 
attributed to muscular stress or injury. Although no trends were presented it was confirmed 
that sickness was higher during the winter period. 
 

AGENDA ITEM 4

9



 

In reply to a members question as to what measures are in place to reduce sickness 
levels she replied that a robust sickness management system was in place and that 
early intervention was seen as important in reducing sickness levels.  
 
 In reply to a Members question regarding the number of ambulances  available, she 
replied that there were nine available at peak demand times plus  cars at 4 community 
sub-stations. In addition there were a further two cars that were available at particularly 
high demand times.  There was also the facility to call on Shropshire and Worcestershire 
services if required.  
 
 A Member enquired about the availability of flu jabs and it was confirmed that this 
service is available for staff to access if they wished. 
 
 In answer to a Member question regarding the effects of late responses she confirmed 
that no details were available but could be provided if required. 
 
 Points were raised regarding response times in given areas. Members felt that there 
should be more detailed information available as to why different areas/locations had 
differing performance statistics. It was felt that the report statistics presented did not 
allow any conclusions to be drawn.  
 
 A Member commented on the excellent feedback regarding Brierley Hill and suggested 
that the approach taken at Brierley Hill should be more widely adopted.   
 
 In response to a Members question regarding calls from the Welsh border she 
confirmed that calls were recorded and shown as a Herefordshire response.  
  
A Member raised the issue of future demographic trends and the resilience of the service 
to cope.  It was confirmed that although the county picture was continually assessed, 
resources were finite. 
 
Other points discussed included out of hours provision and provision of defibrillators 
across the county.   It was confirmed that weekly meetings with the Wye Valley Trust 
were held and every effort was made to promote and maintain communication lines.  
 
Work was ongoing to ensure defibrillators were widely accessible throughout the 
community and work was ongoing to make them available at Care Homes, shops and 
Police and Fire Stations. 
 
Resolved:   
 
That  
 

a) data on fatalities as a result of late attendance be made available; 
 

b) a  progress report  on Access to Mental Health provision be provided; and; 
 
c) An in depth rationale behind the data presented be provided. 

 
 

8. IMPLEMENTATION OF INFORMATION, ADVICE AND SIGNPOSTING HUB AND 
DIGITAL WEB SYSTEM   
 
The Committee received a presentation from the Commissioning Lead Officer Integrated 
Pathways, on the proposed arrangements for the implementation of an Information 
Advice and Signposting Hub. 
 

10



 

During the ensuing discussion the following issues were raised: 
 

• That access to services in rural areas is recognised and innovative ways of 
enabling are always being considered. 

 

• That although the younger generation access services throughout a variety of 
mediums there is an ongoing commitment to retain the telephone as a method of 
contact. 

 
• That there is a recognition that services should be made more accessible i.e. 7 

days per week. With a ‘pop up’ service for rural areas envisaged. 
 

• The delivery method was moving to self-assessment with an e-market place 
signposting to a host of different service providers. 

 

• That an information hub system be implemented by the end of August 2015 with 
an e-market place launch planned for October/November 2015. 

 
In reply to a Members concern regarding access to services in rural areas. The aim of 
this initiative is to provide a variety of ways to access services.  It is recognised that GPs 
are excellent at diagnosis however there can be a lack of knowledge in appropriate 
signposting and referral to services.  This initiative will assist all stakeholders to access 
the appropriate services.   It is also recognised that the younger generation access 
services through a variety of mediums however there is a commitment to retain phone 
access to services. 
 
Concerns were raised by Members as to how the e-market place would be publicised 
with the reply given that a marketing plan would be developed with all mediums being 
considered.  
 
In reply to a question from a Member regarding debt advice and concerns that any 
funding allocated to this initiative might impact on funding for the Citizens Advice Bureau 
(CAB). It was confirmed that any funding allocated to this initiative would be new funding 
and therefore would not impact on the CAB.  
  
Members requested that provision of this service should be linked to any future digital 
strategy. 
 
Resolved: That a progress report be presented at the end of the year. 
 

9. HEALTHWATCH HEREFORDSHIRE   
 
The Committee received a report from the Independent Chairman of Healthwatch 
Herefordshire which outlined areas of concern for Healthwatch.  
 
The Chairman confirmed that a briefing paper will be made available for all Councillors.  
 
In reply to Members comments that Healthwatch was not as well-known as other 
services, The Independent Chairman confirmed that the profile has been raised through 
local press and radio together with direct marketing to 60000 residents.  It was accepted, 
however, that further efforts in this area were required. 
 
The Independent Chairman confirmed that regular meetings were held with both the 
2Gether Trust and the Wye Valley Trust. Mr Deneen suggested that members undertake 
visits to the Wye Valley Trust. 
 
 In response to a Members question regarding the continued Healthwatch monitoring of 
the Ross On Wye and Leominster minor injuries unit, he went on to say that whilst 

11



 

monitoring would continue, it should be noted that the minor injuries unit contract is up 
for renewal. 
 
Other points raised were: 
 

• Signing of the military covenant was supported and commended. 
 

• Recognition of the difficulty in GP recruitment for Herefordshire. It was suggested 
that Dr Harris be invited to the next meeting to outline the strategy for 
recruitment. 

 
• Mr Deneen  expressed his gratitude for the support received from Members and 

confirmed that a briefing paper would be made available for the Committee 
 
 The Chairman thanked the Independent Chairman for his report.  
 

10. WORK PROGRAMME   
 
The Committee considered its Work Programme and in the ensuing discussion the 
following points were raised: 
 
• Concerns regarding the impact of planned 24hr GP cover and the increased 

demands on the Health Service Herefordshire particularly in the light of increased 
housing and it was confirmed this area could be further explored and brought before 
the Committee. 
 

• That a Commission for GPs was being led by NHS England. 
 

• That neither Public Health Performance nor Compliance with Care Act featured in 
the work programme. The Director of Adults Wellbeing confirmed that these areas 
could be considered once further guidance has been received. 
 

• That the impact of Housing and Health Infrastructure should be the subject of a Task 
and Finish review particularly in view of a proposed University for Herefordshire. 
 

• The Committee would be focusing on Safeguarding Performance and Child Sexual 
Exploitation. 
 

• That 106 agreements should contribute  towards Health Promotion 
 
Resolved: That the Work Programme be noted 
 

The meeting ended at 4.45 pm CHAIRMAN 

12



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
David Penrose on Tel (01432) 383690 

 

 

MEETING: 
 

HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE OVERVIEW & 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

MEETING DATE: 22 JULY 2015 

TITLE OF REPORT: WYE VALLEY NHS TRUST CARE QUALITY 
COMMISSION INSPECTION 

REPORT BY: Chief Executive, Wye Valley NHS Trust 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

1. Classification  
 Open 

2. Key Decision  

 This is not an executive decision  
 

3. Wards Affected 

 County-wide  
 

4. Purpose 

4.1 To receive an updated report on progress at the County Hospital following the 
intervention by the Care Quality Commission.  

 

5. Recommendation 

 THAT:  The Committee note the presentation 
 

6. Alternative Options 
There are no relevant alternative options. 
 

7. Financial Implications 
7.1 There are no financial implications to this report.  

 
 

8. 
8.1 

Legal Implications 
There are no legal implications to this report. 

 
9 Appendixes 

 Appendix 1 – Presentation 

 

10 Background Papers 

10.1 None identified. 

AGENDA ITEM 7

13



14



 

 !"!#$"%&'("!)&*'!+,-'*&!".(/!*0"$.(%!"

1(/'+"%*2!!3!4
5'(!#*67!/8-(.!

98+"-!"*:*"!.(!;*<=:>?:@*
+4%*#$";+"%*,$$3*

 !"!#$"%&'("!)&*'!+,-'*&!".(/!*0"$.(%!"

5$4-!4-

! "#$%&'()$*+),$-.'(
! /01)23*,'&'#'&3*)4.5-356$*7.
! 8&*$*7.,
! 1'5$'.9()$*+)4%$**&*9

15



 

 !"!#$"%&'("!)&*'!+,-'*&!".(/!*0"$.(%!"

!"#$%&'(#)*(+#,-&'

. /)$012%)3(4"5(60&-)&%#$

. /53-)&(1#5-(7 89(:052,051-;(89(-)<%50)=-)&;(
89($-#*-5>?%@;(8AB+C;(#1"&-(=-*%1%)-(
-D@#)>%0)E((6-5,05=#)1-(<0$#&%$-;(5-15"%&=-)&(
1?#$$-)3%)3

. 49(7 6-0@$-($-#*-5>(@5035#==-;(>&#,,(>"5<-'(
%=@50<-=-)&>;(>&#,,(<#$"->(FAGH8IE((G@@5#%>#$(
#)*(-)3#3-=-)&(5-=#%)(1?#$$-)3-

 !"!#$"%&'("!)&*'!+,-'*&!".(/!*0"$.(%!"

!"#$%&'(#)*(+#,-&'
. +&502-(>-5<%1-(7 8#5$'(+"@@05&-*(9%>1?#53-;(
>-5<%1-(%)&-35#&%0);(%)@#&%-)&(&#53-&(#1?%-<-*E((
CBG(#)*(5-15"%&=-)&(5-=#%)(1?#$$-)3->

. H-*"1%)3(?#5=(7 JKL(%)15-#>-(%)(%)1%*-)&>(
5-@05&-*(:%&?()0(%)15-#>-(%)(?#5=;(KMNO(*#'>(
:%&?0"&(PH+G(Q#1&#5#-=%#;(P05&#$%&'(H-<%-:(
+'>&-=E((P05&#$%&'(5#&->(5-=#%)(1?#$$-)3-

. 6#&%-)&(-D@-5%-)1-(7 469(-D@#)>%0);(
R-#$&?:#&1?(-)&-5(#)*(<%-:(5-@05&>E((A#@#1%&'(
#)*(*-=#)*(5-=#%)(1?#$$-)3-

16



 

 !"!#$"%&'("!)&*'!+,-'*&!".(/!*0"$.(%!"

!"#$%#&'()"

* +,-.-/%0#1-2 34567-89:;--<%='>?=?>@A-B"C-
%))0D'()@-'(C-C"&'(C-#"&'?(-)/'=="(E"1

* FGG-2 H.7-8"(C-%$-I'@;--,"&'(C-"J)""C?(E-
)'D')?>@-'(C-B')K=%E-#"C0)>?%(-#"&'?(-
)/'=="(E"

* L'()"#-2 3M537-8H6-C'@;-<%='>?=?>@-'(C-C"&'(C-
)/'=="(E"

* ,?'E(%1>?)1-2 3H5H7--N?("'#-E#%O>/-?(-C"&'(C-
'(C-LG-1)'(("#-#"1?=?"()"-)/'=="(E"1

 !"!#$"%&'("!)&*'!+,-'*&!".(/!*0"$.(%!"

P?('()"1

* Q(C"#=@?(E-C"$?)?>-C0"->%->'#?$$-C"$='>?%(A-
C?1")%(%&@-%$-1)'="-'(C-C"&'(C-"J)""C?(E-
10DD=@

* R:35:-&?==?%(-C"$?)?>-D='(-64:MS:H-8R:65T-&?==?%(-
?(-64:.S:M;

* U%(V#")0##"(>-1'W?(E1-)'>)/-0DA-)%&&0(?>@-
)%(>#')>-#"C0)>?%(A-%W"#1"'1-(0#1?(E-
#")#0?>&"(>A-')0>"-&"C?)?("-?(W"1>&"(>-)'01"1-
%$-?()#"'1"

17



 

 !"!#$"%&'("!)&*'!+,-'*&!".(/!*0"$.(%!"

!"#$"%&'($)*(+,$))-)&

. !%#/-0%(1"#$"%&'(

. 23#4-)&(53&%"6%#(73#(8%#%73#*16-#%(9#3&#$::%(
; $0<"%(1%#/-0%1(#%/-%=(>?@(19%0-$,-"-%1($)*(A(
*$'(#%1-,-%)0%BC(03::<)-"'(03,,$D3#$"-/%(>,30$,-"'(
0$#%(:3*%,(=-"6(9#-:$#'(0$#%BC(<#&%)"(0$#%(
#%*%1-&)

. E#&$)-1$"-3)$,(73#:

. F$"%&3#'(GFH(5#<1"I((J$)&<$#*(9#3&#$::%K((
263,%(1'1"%:(#%*%1-&)I((L<#)(#$"%(MN@C@@@O*$'

18



 

 
 
Herefordshire CCG – Audit and Assurance Committee   
Page 1 of 2 

 

 

 

 

SUBJECT Mental Health Services Integrated Pathway 

PRESENTED BY Adrian Griffiths / Hazel Braund 

 

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
To inform the Committee of the joint project to develop an integrated pathway for 
mental health services 

 

KEY POINTS 
 

This report highlights: 

o strategic aims of the project;  
o project governance structure and membership of groups within the structure;  
o proposed procurement approach;  
o summary project timeline;  
o strategic and policy context; 

 
 Project to develop a joint, integrated, all age pathway for mental health services based around 

the needs of the population and the outcomes they require 
  
 Target contract completion date of 30th September 2016 and target contract commencement 

date of 1st April 2017. 
  

 Extension to the current contract with 2Gether NHS FT to allow the time to develop the joint 
mental health services specification with Herefordshire Council. 

 
 Joint Commissioning Board to be the appropriate governance route for a joint procurement 

project and to oversee a project specific Project Board. 
 

 
RECOMMENDATION TO THE COMMITTEE 
 

  
 Acknowledge the contents of the presentation 
  

 

 Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
22nd July 2015 

AGENDA ITEM 8

19



 

 
 
Herefordshire CCG – Audit and Assurance Committee   
Page 2 of 2 

 

 
CONTEXT & IMPLICATIONS 
 
Financial  Current health commissioning spend on mental health services is 

c£25m; broadening the scope of the project will significantly increase the 
commissioning budget in play and increase the scope for efficiencies 

Legal  The National Health Service (Procurement, Patient Choice and 
Competition) (No.2) Regulations 2013; Public Contracts Regulations 
2006 and 2015. 

Risk and Assurance (Risk 
Register/BAF) 

Project has develop its own risk register 

HR/Personnel N/A 

Equality & Diversity Full Impact Assessments will be required for all options 

Strategic Objectives  

 

- Integrated care and support designed around the needs of 
individuals, their carers and their families  

- Greater Integration of Care 
- Modernising Mental Health Services 
- Health & Wellbeing Strategy Priority 

Healthcare/National Policy(e.g. 
CQC/Annual Health Check) 

Patient Choice in Mental Health 

NHS Constitution 

Parity of esteem Integration with other care services would promote parity of esteem 

New mental health contract will promote parity of esteem 

Implementation Plan A full project plan has been developed 

Communications and Patient 
Involvement 

Patient Involvement in production of the MHNA has been significant- this 
will be continued through focus groups throughout the project and 
patient involvement in evaluation of any tender 

A detailed stakeholder map and communications plan has been 
developed 

Partners/Other Directorates Herefordshire Council- Adults Wellbeing, Children’s and Young People’s 
Wellbeing and Public Health 

Carbon Impact/Sustainability N/A 

Other Significant Issues  

 

20



02/07/15 

1 

Mental Health Integrated Pathway 

 

Joint Mental Health Project Summary 
 

02/07/15 1 

 
This presentation summarises a new joint project of NHS Herefordshire CCG and Herefordshire 
Council to develop a joint, all ages, integrated pathway for mental health services and sets out a 
timeline based upon a commencement date of 1st April 2017 for the new services. 
 
The project recognises the central importance of mental health in the Health and Wellbeing strategy 
and builds on the engagement undertaken to complete the mental health needs assessment, all 
ages mental health strategy and Children’s and Young People’s Plan. 
 
The core aim of the project is to integrate services across care, health and public health to deliver 
much better outcomes for Herefordshire service users and to increase prevention of mental illness. 
 
Workshops with commissioners are now taking place to develop the joint objectives of the project, 
the scope of the project and the outcomes required for services users. 
 
The objectives and outcomes are very much based on the perspective of service users and their 
needs and will be tested with a reference group of stakeholders. 
 
The scope of the project will likely involve a core procurement with programmes of phased work 
“wrapped around” that core. Some services or opportunities may not be included in the 
procurement process, but may be developed alongside the procurement process with key timelines 
relating to the procurement process. 
 
 
 

Joint Procurement of Mental Health Services 

21



02/07/15 

2 

 
Draft Strategic Aims: 
 
The project should deliver a joint pathway for contracts for mental health and emotional wellbeing 
services in Herefordshire such that within available resources they demonstrably: 
  
• Support service users to have the best possible mental and physical health. 
  
• Meet service users’ needs such that they 

• are able to function in their daily lives; 
• can get assessment and support where and when they need it; 
• experience seamless transitions and teams that work together to meet their needs; 
• are supported to recover and remain well; and 
• are supported at the end of life if it such support is needed. 

  
• Involve service users in decisions about their care such that they are 

• listened to and their views are taken into account; and 
• treated as a person not a diagnosis or collection of conditions. 

  
• Enable service users to be open about their condition if they want to be. 
  
• Support carers in in their caring role.  
  
• Build capability and capacity in other partners / providers 
 
 

Joint Procurement of Mental Health Services 

 
Draft Strategic Aims for Integration: 
 
Combining the commissioning strength of the two organisations to procure new integrated mental 
health services should:  
  
• Design services around the joint mental health needs assessment; 
  
• Target services to give the greatest impact on outcomes; 
  
• Avoid duplication of services; 
  
• Ensure value for money, efficiency and effectiveness;  
  
• Develop co-ordinated services; 
  
• Remove barriers between health and social care services;  
  
• Share best practice;  
  
• Share expertise; and  
  
• Share intelligence about needs  
 
 
 

Joint Procurement of Mental Health Services 

22



02/07/15 

3 

 
The Broad Phases of a project are: 
 
• April 2015 to October 2015- 
 Initiation, Design and Development Phase 

 
• November 2015 to September 2016 
 Procurement Phase 
 
• October 2016 to March 2017 
 Mobilisation and Transition Phase 
 
• 1st April 2017 

New Contract Commences 
 

A contract model that is outcomes-based and supports integration with other services is likely to benefit from a 
procurement route that includes some form of dialogue / negotiation with prospective providers.  
 
This initial illustrative timeline is based upon a procurement route involving dialogue. All permissible procurement 
routes will be explored as part of the preparation phase of the project before a final recommendation is made.  
 
This timeline requires an extension of current contracts with 2gether NHS FT of 12 months. 

 
 
 Project Proposed Timeline- Outline 

 
 
 Project Proposed Timeline- Summary Workstreams 

Duration of 
Work

Deadline 
(From 1st 

April)

A
p

r

M
a

y

Ju
n

Ju
l

A
u

g

S
e

p

O
c
t

N
o

v

D
e

c

Ja
n

F
e

b

M
a

r

A
p

r

M
a

y

Ju
n

Ju
l

A
u

g

S
e

p

O
c
t

N
o

v

D
e

c

Ja
n

F
e

b

M
a

r

A
p

r

M
a

y

Ju
n

A Governance Structure & Project Plans 2 Months 2 Months
B Project Scope 2 Months 2 Months
C Draft Outcomes & Weighted Indicators 5 Months 5 Months
D Analyse Existing Contracts & Budgets 1 Month 1 Month
D Engage with Current Providers 7 Months 7 Months
E Draft New Finance & Activity Model 6 Months 6 Months
F Market Analysis & Engage with Prospective Providers 7 Months 8 Months
G Draft Commercial Model & Payment Mechanism 5 Months 6 Months
H Develop Procurement Model 7 Months 7 Months
I Issue Contract Advert and Invite Expressions of Interest 1 Month 8 Months
I Invite Interested Providers to Submit Initial Tenders 10 weeks 12 Months
I Negotiation Phase with Successful Providers 10 Weeks 14 Months
I Invite Providers to Submit Final Tenders 2 Months 15 Months
I Recommendation & Governing Body Approval 1 Month 16 Months
I Negotiate And Agree Contract with Preferred Provider 2 Months 18 Months
I Mobilisation Period 6 Months 24 Months
I New Contract Begins 24 Months

2017

Phase One-
Preparation

Phase Two-
Procurement

Phase Three-
Mobilisation

Contract 
Live

Project Workstreams

2015 2016
New Mental Health Contract Draft Timeline- 
Competitive Procedure with Negotiation

23



02/07/15 

4 

 
 
 Project Governance: 

 
Key roles within project governance structure 

HCCG Governing Body and Herefordshire Council will retain ultimate responsibility for approval at key 
points. 
 
Joint Commissioning Board will have delegated authority to oversee implementation of the project.  
 
A specific Project Board will lead the project and approve the outputs of each workstream of the project. 
 
The governance structure diagram provides an overview of this proposed governance structure, and an 
outline of the key roles of each group are described below.  
 
Project groups and workstreams will be accountable to the Joint Commissioning Board through the Project 
Board. 
 
The membership of each group has been proposed to ensure appropriate input of key stakeholders. 

Mental Health Procurement Project Board 
 

Leads delivery of the project. Provides 
oversight and quality assurance on 
delivery of programme 

Reference Groups-  
Stakeholder / Commissioners / Clinical 

 

Provides advice and input into project 
deliverables, aligns project with strategy 
and stakeholder requirements 

Mental Health Procurement Project Team 
 

Provides overall project management, 
coordination of input from other 
individuals and groups as required. 
Provides day-to-day decision making, 
escalating where required 

Health Overview & 
Scrutiny 

CCG 
Governing 

Body 

Herefordshire 
Council 
Cabinet 

Clinical Reference 
Group  

Project Board 

 
 
 Project Governance Structure Diagram:  
 

Joint Commissioning 
Board 

Oversees Implementation 
of the Project 

Leads Delivery of the 
Project 

Test, Challenge & 
Provide Intelligence 

Operational Delivery & 
Project Management 

Holds ultimate 
responsibility & 
delegates authority 

Existing Groups  
meet monthly 

Existing Group  
meets monthly 

Project Specific Group  
meets in line with key 
milestones 

Project Specific 
Groups- meet bi-
monthly or as 
required 

Provide Scrutiny and 
Ensure Strategic 
Accountability & 
Probity 

Stakeholder 
Reference Group  

Commissioner 
Reference Group  

Health & Wellbeing 
Board 

Existing Groups meet 
quarterly / bi-
monthly 

24



02/07/15 

5 

 
 
 Project Governance- Project Board Membership: 

 
Role Officer 

Senior User Hazel Braund 
CCG Director of Operations 

Senior Supplier Phillip Shackell 
Herefordshire Council 

Senior User Role shared by Commissioning 
Leads 

Clinical Lead Dr Simon Lennane 
CCG Lead for Mental Health 

Stakeholder Lead Diane Jones MBE 
CCG Lay Member for Public & 
Patient Involvement 

Project Manager Adrian Griffiths 
CCG Head of Commercial 
Development 

 
 
 Project Governance- Project Board Membership: 

 
Role Officer 

Adults Wellbeing 
Commissioning Lead 

Ewen Archibald 

Children’s & Young Peoples 
Commissioning Lead 

Frankie Green 

Health Commissioning Lead Jade Brooks 

Adults Public Health 
Commissioning Lead 

Phillip Shackell 

Children’s Public Health 
Commissioning Lead 

Andrea Westlake 

Housing Commissioning Lead Tina Wood 

Education Commissioning 
Lead 

TBC 

Employment Commissioning 
Lead 

TBC 

25



02/07/15 

6 

MH Needs Assessment Outcomes 

02/07/15 11 

 
1. I will live for longer with good health 
 
2. Services meet my needs 

a) I am able to function in daily life 
b) I can get assessment and 

support where and when I need 
it 

c) Transitions will be seamless and 
teams will work together 

d) Services support me to recover 
and remain well 

e) Service support me at the end 
of life if I need it 

 
 

3. I am involved in decisions about my 
care 

a) I am listened to and my views 
are taken into account 

b) I am treated as a person, not a 
diagnosis or collection of 
symptoms 

 
4. I am able to be open about my 

mental health condition if I want to 
be 
 

5. Carers are supported in their caring 
role 
 

NHS IQ Outcomes 

02/07/15 12 

 
1. People can look after themselves and 

each other 
 
2. People will recover and / or remain 

well for as long as possible 

3.  People feel involved in decisions 
about their care and support 
 

4. The public are confident that 
resources are used appropriately and 
effectively 

26



 
Further information on the subject of this report is available from 

Christopher Baird, Assistant Director, Education and Commissioning on Tel (01432) 260264 

 

Meeting: 
 

HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

Meeting date: 22 July 2015 

Title of report: Children and Young People’s Plan  

Report by: Assistant Director, Education and Commissioning 
 
 

Alternative options 

1. The children and young people’s partnership (CYPP) could continue to work without a 
plan, but this would significantly reduce the effectiveness of the partnership in 
delivering multi agency improvements for children, young people and families in 
Herefordshire. 

Reasons for recommendations 

2. The health and wellbeing board has delegated responsibility for the development of a 
children and young people’s plan to the children and young people’s partnership. The 
partnership has been undertaking development work on the plan, using the joint 
strategic needs assessment, consulting with partner stakeholders as to the priorities of 
the plan and providing the health and wellbeing board with regular updates. The plan 
has been approved by the children and young people’s partnership, and now requires 
comments from Scrutiny and approval from each constituent agency.  For 
Herefordshire Council this will be at the full council meeting in September.  The plan 
will then become the vehicle to deliver improvement for children, young people and 

Classification  

Open 
 

Key Decision  
This is not an executive decision. 
 

Wards Affected 
Countywide  

Purpose 
To seek the comments of the Committee on the Children and Young People’s Partnership 
Plan 2015-2018 

Recommendation 

THAT:   The Committee comment on the Children and Young People’s Partnership 
Plan 2015-2018 and endorse the partnership approach to addressing the 
needs of children, young people and families in Herefordshire. 

AGENDA ITEM 9

27



 
Further information on the subject of this report is available from 

Christopher Baird, Assistant Director, Education and Commissioning on Tel (01432) 260264 

their families within the financial context families, communities, and the public sector 
operate in, as well as delivering against the health and wellbeing strategy and 
contributing to the wider health and wellbeing agenda in Herefordshire. 

Key considerations 

3. The children and young people’s partnership has been given key responsibility by the 
health and wellbeing board to develop the Children and Young People’s Plan. 

4. The partnership has developed a plan which reflects the priorities that have previously 
been agreed by the health and wellbeing board at the meeting on 28 January 2015 and 
have been set out in the joint strategic needs analysis, the children’s integrated needs 
analysis and Herefordshire’s health and wellbeing strategy, namely: 

• Early help – developing the “Think Family” approach and culture across the 
partnership 

• Improving outcomes for our youngest children (0 to 5 years) 
• Improving the emotional and mental health and wellbeing of children, young 

people, and their parents and carers 
• Meeting the needs of children and young people requiring safeguarding 
• Addressing challenges for adolescents 
• Improving the outcomes for children with a disability 

5. These priorities have been closely examined by partner agencies and overseen, co-
ordinated and brought together in the plan by the CYPP steering group. 

6. Our underlying strategic approach is to strengthen the capacity of children and young 
people, families and communities and universal services to help themselves, building 
on the strengths that currently exist in Herefordshire.  Strategically we will also focus on 
supporting stronger, community based provision targeted to specific needs which will 
move resources from some higher cost, specialist services. 

7. The plan recognises the inter-relationships across the priority areas and identifies the 
need for smarter co-ordinated working across the partnership in order to meet the 
objectives of the plan.  The partners are well aware of the challenges to make the 
partnership a meaningful driver of change.  The plan also recognises the significance 
of developments in wider adult, community, education and health services which will 
impact upon the capabilities and capacities of children and young people, parents and 
carers. 

8. The plan has been developed in the context of the improvement work underway to 
address safeguarding of children in Herefordshire, and also recognising the existing 
Herefordshire education strategy which provides specific strategic developments to 
improve education in Herefordshire.  These developments are referenced in the CYPP 
plan, but encapsulated in the education strategy and action plans. 

9. The plan recognises that it will operate within the first three years of austerity measures 
for the public sector.  It therefore identifies some significant cost savings to be 
achieved, alongside a more effective use of resources.  There is further work to be 
done to address the funding challenges ahead and to do so for all agencies involved in 
a way that makes the most of collective resource.  This has been recognised as a 
development area for the partnership. 

10. The plan will be delivered through an annual business plan.  This was a successful 
approach used with Herefordshire Children’s Trust and its children and young people’s 
plan.  Having identified the strategic planning priorities and goals to be attained by 

28



 
Further information on the subject of this report is available from 

Christopher Baird, Assistant Director, Education and Commissioning on Tel (01432) 260264 

March 2018, there is a need to quickly agree and implement the business plan for the 
first period of the plan’s implementation (i.e. up to March 2016) so that the partnership 
and the plan provides an effective commissioning and delivery framework to both 
service users and the children’s workforce.  Whilst the plan is being progressed to 
endorsement by the relevant governing bodies of the council and the management 
boards of the contributor partners (to be completed by the end of September 2015), six 
operational business plans will be developed, building on work already set out, and 
reflecting the six priority need groups contained within the plan, along with linkages and 
synergies across the priorities as appropriate. These business plans will be confirmed 
once endorsement of the CYPP plan has been achieved, but work is already taking 
place on some of the plan activities. 

11. The plan has been produced in executive summary format as well as in a full version.  
The executive summary sets out the key areas of change and what will be delivered by 
2018.  Both are attached as appendices. They will be web based plans with a small 
number of hard copies.  The design work will involve children and young people. 

12. The composition and remit of the partnership steering group will be revised to reflect 
that its primary function will change to overseeing the implementation of the plan and 
to: 

• Endorse the business planning priorities chosen for each need area 
• Monitor implementation of the business plans 
• Resolve any difficulties or impediments to successful implementation across the 

partnership. 
 

13. In order to operate successfully it is important that the partnership recognises the need 
to strengthen the coordinated project and business management approach of the 
partnership.  This remains unresolved from the last partnership executive meeting 
where it was proposed to pool and align resources across the partnership to deliver the 
plan 

Community impact 

14. The children and young people’s plan is a key component of Herefordshire’s health and 
wellbeing strategy and provides priorities for service improvement for children and 
young people and their families. A core objective of the plan is that of building 
resilience in individuals, families and communities.  

Equality duty 

15. The partnership’s plan will support the council in its overall duty to promote equality. In 
particular the plan makes proposals to maximise access to universal services among 
the most disadvantaged, reduce inequalities between persons with a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it and enhance opportunities for social 
inclusion among those experiencing barriers to participation.  

Financial implications 

16. There are significant financial pressures that will impact on public sector services over 
the life of the plan.  These will be confirmed through the budget statement in July but 
may include c.40% reductions for the local authority, c.16% for school budgets, health 
funding pressures.  At the same time there may be specific funding streams which 
partners can access; troubled families being one of them.  The table below sets out 
draft indications of finances in relation to each of the plan’s priority areas.  This needs 

29



 
Further information on the subject of this report is available from 

Christopher Baird, Assistant Director, Education and Commissioning on Tel (01432) 260264 

more work as the detailed action plans are developed.  It is recognised by the children 
and young people’s partnership executive that more development needs to take place 
to make the most of collective resources at a time when these are shrinking 
significantly in some areas and that this is a partnership-wide responsibility. 

 

 

 

 No. of 
Children / 
Families  

Budgets  Savings Commentary 

Priorities   £000's £000's   
Early Help 600 1,800 450 £1.8m is potential income if we can 

evidence 600 families are "turned 
around".  Troubled Families funding 
over 3 years (15/16 - 17/18). The 
national cost calculator will be used to 
identifying savings. Savings are 
expected for all partners 

0-5 Early 
Years 

9,800 3,500 400 Health Visitors, School Nursing, 
Children’s Centres, funding is from 
Public Health & Council. The savings will 
be in safeguarding if prevention is 
successful. 

Mental 
health and 
emotional 
wellbeing 

8,620       1,400  TBC  funding by Clinical Commissioning 
Group (CCG) £1.4m ZigZag £57k 

Children and 
young 
people in 
need of 
safeguarding 

TBC       7,288  2,800  The savings are profiled over the next 5 
years. 

Addressing 
challenges 
for young 
people 

TBC          TBC  300  Costs could relate to providing youth 
offending services (YOS) and not in 
education, employment or training 
(NEET) services. Development of 
Adolescents services. 

Children and 
young 
people with 
disabilities 

5,000       4,197  350  Complex needs solutions is funded by 
the CCG £500k, dedicated schools grant 
£1.5m and safeguarding £1.5m and 
short breaks funded by the council. In 
addition to this funding health 
contribute £1.1m. Adults have invested 
£250k in transition team to generate 
savings of £350k 

Totals  18,185 4,300  

30



 
Further information on the subject of this report is available from 

Christopher Baird, Assistant Director, Education and Commissioning on Tel (01432) 260264 

Legal implications 

17. The children and young people’s plan and the process of joint planning should support 
local authorities and their partners as they work together to agree clear targets and 
priorities for all their services to children and young people, identify the actions and 
activities needed to achieve them and ensure delivery. The plan needs to be approved 
by the children and young people’s partnership and subsequently the health and 
wellbeing Board and each constituent agency to ensure the plan is monitored and 
progress reviewed.  

Risk management 

18. The risk of the plan not being approved is that specific issues that confront children, 
young people and their families will not be addressed as part of the overall approach to 
improving the health and wellbeing of Herefordshire communities as proposed in the 
strategy of the health and wellbeing board.  The CYPP and its plan are the key vehicles 
to drive and deliver priority service improvements for children, young people and their 
families in Herefordshire.  There is also a significant financial risk to each constituent 
organisation if clear partnership approaches are not delivered, including the potential 
for unintended cost pressure. 

Consultees 

19. The plan has been the subject of extensive consultation with CYPP members, their 
governance bodies and their workforce over the past nine months.  Further 
consultation with children and young people is proposed between now and the time of 
the full Council meeting.  The activities to deliver the plan will be subject to further 
consultation and engagement as they take place. 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 Executive summary 

Appendix 2 Children and Young People’s Plan 2015 - 2018 

Background papers 

• None identified. 

31



32



 

 1 

 

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE’S PLAN HEADLINES 
Version 1.9 

 

Vision 

The Herefordshire Children and Young People’s Partnership (CYPP) wants children and young 
people to grow up healthy, happy and safe within supportive families and carers. 

We want them to have the best health, education and opportunities to enable them to reach their 
full potential. 

Our main priority is to keep children and young people safe and give them the best start in life. 

By March 2018 we want to have good safeguarding services in all agencies and to have local 
education and health outcomes within the top 25% nationally. 

Context 

The Children and Young People’s Plan provides the multi-agency strategy for addressing children, 
young people and their families in Herefordshire, identified through the Health and Well-being 
Strategy and needs assessments. 

Education plays a fundamental part in the lives of children and young people and to specifically 
address education issues in Herefordshire an Education Strategy has been put in place. Likewise, 
with respect to the safeguarding needs of children and young people, the Herefordshire 
Safeguarding Children Board Business Plan provides the strategic priorities for services. 

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
Delivery 
 
To deliver this vision we will: 
 
• Listen to the voices of children and young people as to their needs and how to meet them 

Health and 
Well-Being 
Strategy 

 
Education 
Strategy  

 
CYPP Plan  

HSCB 
Business 

Plan  

CYPP PRIORITIES 

33



 

 2 

 

 
• Work collaboratively with individuals, families and communities to  develop capability and 

resilience 
 
• Target the services we provide on priority need groups of children, young people and their 

families 
 
• Ensure that the services we provide produce the outcomes we intend, based on evidence of 

effectiveness, including cost effectiveness 
 
• Share information across the Partnership to ensure co-ordinated smarter working and more 

effective delivery of  services 
 
• Develop a skilled children’s workforce that  has ownership of the vision of the Partners to this 

Plan 
 
• Use technology in innovative ways to enable children, young people and families to help 

themselves, and to engage children, young people and their families in the full range of advice, 
information, and services offered by the Partners. 

 
At the time of significant pressure on public finances the Plan recognises the need for services to 
make budget savings whilst also fundamentally changing the way services are delivered, enabling 
children, young people, families and communities to exercise more choice and control over their 
lives. There will be opportunities to use our resources differently and to access funding streams at 
a national and local level. At the same time the Partnership will be planning for substantial 
reductions in some funding streams over the life of the Plan.  
 
The Voice of Children and Young People 
 
The Partnership is committed to improving services by listening to and acting on the Voice of the 
Child. We will be continuously asking children, young people and families to help us develop the 
Children and Young People’s Plan. Participation People are supporting us to set up a proactive 
network of organisations and individuals to help us do this. The Voice of the Child Network will 
capture the views of children, young people and families through a variety of methods. These 
views will feed into strategy, policy and budgeting decisions.  

Priorities 
 
We have six priorities: 
 
Early Help 
 
We want to improve the early identification and response to some critical issues that affect the 
development of children and young people.  This will include work to break the cycle of inter-
generational inequality. This means a whole family approach and culture across the Herefordshire 
Partnership, working collaboratively with the whole family to: 
 

• improve physical and mental ill health (of both children and their parents and carers), 
• reduce crime and anti-social behaviour, 
• reduce worklessness, 
• reduce domestic violence and 
• tackling the effect of poverty on children’s outcomes 

34



 

 3 

 

 
We will put in place targeted models of effective intervention which will work alongside and with 
universal services, with a clear lead worker for each family who will co-ordinate those services to 
meet their needs. 
 
We intend to reduce the need for children and families to need help and intervention from statutory 
services and to work with families who are stepping down from statutory interventions to enable 
them to effectively work with universal provision. 
 
By March 2018 we will have provided early help to 600 families. This will enable us to access and 
invested (from the Government’s “Troubled Families” initiative) £1.8m of new funds to continue this 
work. 
 
0-5 Early Years 
 
There are 9,800 children aged 0-5 years in Herefordshire. We will reconfigure £3.5m to deliver 
early years services including children centre services, Health Visiting and School Nursing to 
improve the health, well-being, developmental and educational outcomes of children aged 0-5 
years. These services will be better configured with community and adult services. By March 2018 
we will have: 
 

• Improved childhood immunisation rates (especially MMR)  
 

• Reduced tooth decay in the 0-5 year olds 
   

• Continue to improve breast feeding prevalence at initiation and 6-8 weeks after birth 
 

• Increased the numbers of children that are ready for school at the  end of the Early Years 
Foundation Stage (EYFS) to make a successful transition to school, with children rated as 
achieving a good level of development increasing from 60% to 80%.  

 
• Reduced the educational achievement gap between children in receipt of free school meals 

and other children to 5% 
 

• Provided more effective (evidenced-based) supports to mitigate the effects of poverty, 
inequality and disadvantage through the provision of high quality early education and 
childcare and the Healthy Child Programme 0-5 years  

 
• Delivered the national childcare offer with respect to free pre-school places 

 
Mental Health and Emotional Well-Being 
 
There are an estimated 8,620 children and young people that require support with their mental 
health or emotional resilience. The CYPP will make improvements so that children, young people 
and their families are identified and supported to access help in a timely manner. We will transform 
the volume and quality of the £1.4m of services available and be part of the development of an 
integrated all age pathway for mental health. We will:  
 

• Improve the availability and quality of information available on mental health and well-being 
to children, young people and their families so they can have more control over their own 
lives 
 

35



 

 4 

 

• Improve professionals’ ( eg GPs, teachers) knowledge and awareness of the signs and 
symptoms of mental health, tiers of need, thresholds and referral pathways to needs led 
care 

 
• Improve collaboration between service providers in the identification and response to 

emotional health, well-being and mental health need. 
 

• Deliver the Crisis Care Concordat and its action plan to ensure that no young person with a 
mental health need is detained in police custody and that 24/7 support is available in the 
event of a mental health crisis. 

 
• Improve the experience of young people transferring from young people’s mental health 

services to adults’ by making it person-centered. 
 
Identify the opportunities to improve access to specialist support so that young people with early 
psychosis and those requiring home treatment or rehabilitation as an alternative to hospital 
admission can maintain their daily lives in Herefordshire. 
 
Children and Young People in Need of Safeguarding  
 
We will continue to develop a continuum of provision that can effectively identify and respond to 
safeguarding risks and needs ranging from the initial signs of the call for early help to a range of 
evidence-based interventions for a variety of complex situations. By 2016/17 we aspire to be 
judged by Ofsted as providing good services and to sustain this judgement through the life-span of 
this Plan for the council and the other safeguarding partner services. 
 
Priorities for service development through to March 2018 include reconfiguring £1.1m of services 
to provide: 
 

• Specialist intervention services on step-down from statutory provision (child in need or child 
protection plan) to early help and universal services 
 

• Crisis intervention for those children and young people on the edge of care 
 

• A Family Intervention Project to respond to the therapeutic safeguarding needs of children 
and young people and their families 

 
• A Care Placement Strategy which includes intensive therapeutic support services to 

achieve £2.8 million of savings and £5 million of cost avoidance and improve the 
permanence planning for 48 children between late 2014 and the end of 2019 

 
• A looked after children support service to provide supervised contacts, assessments and 

family group conferencing services to children in the care system 
 
• Better  identification of and support to children from other Local Authority areas placed in 

Herefordshire 
 

• Developing further the Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) to include  police services 
and adult services 

 
Addressing Challenges for Adolescents 
 
To effectively manage the behavioural, emotional and social needs of young people that may 
otherwise jeopardise their successful transition to adulthood. We will by March 2018: 

36



 

 5 

 

 
• Put in place integrated young people’s and youth offending services that have a better 

understanding of the drivers leading to offending and re-offending and reduce the number 
of entrants (first time and repeat) into the anti-social behaviour and youth justice systems. 
 

• Develop a restorative justice strategy for the County and embedded practice within youth 
justice and children’s homes settings. 

 
• Reduce the incidence of young people’s health being compromised ( eg by not accessing 

health services, the misuse of substances, teenage pregnancy)  
 

• Ensure effective behaviour management skills and supports are available to families, 
carers, schools, youth and leisure service providers to enable children and young people to 
maximise their potential. 

 
• Develop a 16+ service to meet the needs of care leavers and other adolescents known to 

social care. 
 

• Identify, prioritise, support and reduce those young people not in education, employment 
and training (NEET), including those who are young parents.  

 
Children and Young People with Disabilities 
 
There are approximately 5,000 children and young people who have a special educational need 
and/or disability in Herefordshire. The Partnership will: 
 

• Promote and enable access to universal opportunities and services for children with 
disabilities and their families 
 

• Provide a seamless and straightforward integrated pathway to provide multi-disciplinary 
support to disabled children and young people from 0 to 24 years. 

 
• Establish a pathway for those moving into adulthood (15+ years) with a particular focus on 

those with significant and complex needs. This will be facilitated by a £250K investment in a 
dedicated transitions team that will yield a financial return of £350K.  
 

• Develop education and learning opportunities for 16+ to reduce the need for residential 
placements 

 
• Enhance the local support for families, including family-based respite services by ring 

fencing existing budgets and reinvesting these resources 
 

• Develop personal budgets and personal health budgets to enable families to exercise more 
control over their lives, within the budgets available. 

 
Next Steps 
 
The Plan is currently in the process of being authorised by the governance processes of the 
contributor agencies to the Partnership. This will be completed by the end of September 2015.  
Work is underway developing business plans to activate the Plan’s priorities for 2015-16, some of 
which are already in place and taking effect. 
 

37



38



 

  

CYP Plan Draft v 2.0    

 

 

 

 

HEREFORDSHIRE CHILDREN AND 
YOUNG PEOPLE’S PLAN 

2015-18 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

39



 

  

CYP Plan Draft v 2.0    

1.  INTRODUCTION 

 

1.1 The Herefordshire Children and Young People’s Partnership Approach 
 

The Herefordshire Children and Young People’s Partnership (CYPP) has lead responsibility for the 
development and delivery of the Children and Young People’s Plan. The Plan is an integral 
component of the Herefordshire Health and Well-Being Strategy and together they form the strategic 
agenda of the Herefordshire Health and Well-Being Board. 
 

The Health and Well-Being Board has identified the following strategic priorities for children and 
young people which need to inform this Plan: 
 

• Starting well in life in pregnancy, maternal health, non-smoking in pregnancy 
• A good start in life 0-5 years: immunisations, breastfeeding, dental health and pre-school checks 
• Children with disabilities 
• Young offenders 
• Young people not in education, employment or training 
• Looked after children 
• Mental health and emotional well-being 

 

1.2 The Vision of the Herefordshire Children and Young People’s Partnership 
 
1.2.1 The Herefordshire Children and Young People’s Partnership (CYPP) wants children and young 
people to grow up healthy, happy and safe within supportive families and carers. 
 

We want them to have the best health, education and opportunities to enable them to reach their full 
potential. 
 

Our main priority is to keep children and young people safe and give them the best start in life. 
 

By March 2018 we want to have good safeguarding services in all agencies and to have local 
education and health outcomes within the top 25% nationally. 
 
Context 
 

The Children and Young People’s Plan provides the multi-agency strategy for addressing affecting 
children, young people and their families in Herefordshire, identified through the Health and Well-
being Strategy and needs assessments. Education plays a fundamental part in the lives of children 
and young people and to specifically address education issues in Herefordshire an Education 
Strategy has been put in place. Likewise, with respect to the safeguarding needs of children and 
young people, the Herefordshire Safeguarding Children Board Business Plan provides the strategic 
priorities for services. 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Health and 
Well-Being 
Strategy 

Education 
Strategy  

 
CYPP Plan  

HSCB 
Business 
Plan  

CYPP PRIORITIES 40



 

  

CYP Plan Draft v 2.0    

 
 
1.2.2 To deliver this vision we will: 
 

• Listen to the voices of children and young people as to their needs and how to meet them 
 

• Work collaboratively with individuals, families and communities to  develop capability and 
resilience 

 
• Target the services we provide on priority need groups of children, young people and their 
families 
 

• Ensure that the services we provide produce the outcomes we intend, based on evidence of 
effectiveness, including cost effectiveness 

 
• Share information across the Partnership to ensure co-ordinated smarter working and more 
effective delivery of  services 

 
• Develop a skilled children’s workforce that  has ownership of the vision of the Partners to this 
Plan 

 
• Use technology in innovative ways to enable children, young people and families to help 
themselves, and to engage children, young people and their families in the full range of 
advice, information, and services offered by the Partners. 
 

At the time of significant pressure on public finances the Plan recognises the need for services to 
make budget savings whilst also fundamentally changing the way services are delivered, enabling 
children, young people, families and communities to exercise more choice and control over their 
lives. There will be opportunities to use our resources differently and to access funding streams at a 
national and local level. At the same time the Partnership will be planning for substantial reductions in 
some funding streams over the life of the Plan. By doing this together we can make the most of our 
collective resources. 
 
1.3 The Children and Young People’s Partnership will put these principles into practice by: 

 
• Managing demand by continuously engaging with children, young people and their families to 
provide appropriate early help 

• Ensuring the development of an appropriate range of effective evidence-based services for 
children and young people (and their families) living in Herefordshire and a strategy to 
communicate their availability. 

• Developing universal service provision to meet the needs of children and young people. 
• Facilitating continued access to universal services where children and young people have 
additional needs. 

• Re-position prevention and early intervention strategies and services to those at greatest risk 
and need. 

• Ensuring that the child or young person is at the centre of service delivery. 
• Having in place services which respect diversity of age, language, religion, ethnicity, sexual 
orientation and culture. 

• Working towards improved integration across agencies with respect to service provision, 
delivery and management. 

 

41



 

  

CYP Plan Draft v 2.0    

1.4 The Priorities of the Plan  
 
1.4.1 The Voice of Children and Young People 
 
The Partnership is committed to improving services by listening to and acting on the Voice of the 
Child. We will be continuously asking children, young people and families to help us develop the 
Children and Young People’s Plan. Participation People are supporting us to set up a proactive 
network of organisations and individuals to help us do this. The Voice of the Child Network will 
capture the views of children, young people and families through a variety of methods. These views 
will feed into strategy, policy and budgeting decisions.  
 
Children and Young People’s Plan seeks to reflect the above aspirations by focusing upon six 
specific priority strategic planning areas: 

 
• Early Help  
• 0-5 Early Years 
• Mental Health and Emotional Well-Being 
• Children and Young People in need of Safeguarding  
• Addressing challenges for Adolescents  
• Children and Young People with Disabilities  

 
1.4.2 These priorities were derived from a variety of sources including the statutory responsibilities 
placed upon the Partners, a strategic needs analysis of children and young people in Herefordshire 
commissioned by the Partnership, a mental health needs analysis undertaken by Herefordshire 
Clinical Commissioning Group, national and local data from performance frameworks on health, 
education and social care and guidance from regulatory bodies (e.g. Ofsted) requiring the 
Partnership to attend to key issues in relation to safeguarding and early help. This Partnership Plan 
also draws on the pre-existing Plans for specific need groups- such as the Early Years Strategy, the 
Education Strategy, the Herefordshire Safeguarding Children Board Business Plan, the Youth Justice 
Plan – and compliments their priorities and objectives. 
 
1.4.3 In scoping these priority planning areas the Partnership is aware that there are significant areas 
of overlap between them. For example, a child needing safeguarding may also present as a person 
under 5 years of age and as a child with a disability. Likewise the strategies and approaches to 
identify those in need of early help will apply across the 0-18 age range and across the substantive 
needs to be addressed be they health, education or social care related. Hence the Plan will 
acknowledge the interrelationship between these planning priority areas while seeking to develop, 
address and deliver a work programme that is meaningful and manageable. 
 
1.5 A common framework for the conceptualising tiers of service provision related to their level of 
need, developed by the Herefordshire Safeguarding Children Board, has been promoted by the 
Partnership during the development of the Plan. The framework identifies four levels of need and 
associated supports required to meet that need: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

42



 

  

CYP Plan Draft v 2.0    

 
Level 1: Children making good overall progress in all areas of 
development, broadly receiving appropriate universal services, 
such as health care and education – no additional support 
required. 

Level 2: Children and young people with emerging vulnerabilities 
whose needs require targeted support 

Level 3: Children and young People with multiple needs requiring 
more than one additional support service and a co-ordinated 
approach 

Level 4: Children or young people with complex needs or with 
concerns for their safety based on evidence of abuse or neglect 
or by disclosure from the child. 

The tiered model recognises that: 
 

• Children and young people may present at different tiers over time, for different types of need  
(health, education, social care) at any one time 

• The additional needs of children and young people may arise from both their own difficulties 
or the difficulties experienced by those seeking to exercise parental responsibilities 

• Children and young people may move up and down the tiers depending upon the nature and 
the severity of their needs 

• Whenever possible children and young people should seek to have their needs met by 
universal provision. Service providers from the higher tiers of specialism should facilitate 
universal providers in meeting the additional needs of children and young people where 
possible. 

Proposals in this Plan seek to address both different levels of need experienced by children and 
families and the different levels of service required to meet that need. 

2.  EARLY HELP FOR FAMILIES 

2.1 OBJECTIVES 

2.1.1 We want to improve the early identification and response to some critical issues that affect the 
development of children and young people.  This will include work to break the cycle of inter-
generational inequality. This means a whole family approach and culture across the 
Herefordshire Partnership, working collaboratively with the whole family to: 

 
• improve physical and mental ill health (of both children and their parents and carers), 
• reduce crime and anti-social behaviour, 
• reduce worklessness, 
• reduce domestic violence and 
• tackling the effect of poverty on children’s outcomes 
 

43



 

  

CYP Plan Draft v 2.0    

We will put in place targeted models of effective intervention which will work alongside and with 
universal services, with a clear lead worker for each family who will co-ordinate those services to 
meet their needs. 
 
We intend to reduce the need for children and families to need help and intervention from statutory 
services and to work with families who are stepping down from statutory interventions to enable them 
to effectively work with universal provision. 
 
By March 2018 we will have provided early help to 600 families. This will enable us to access and 
invested (from the Government’s “Troubled Families” initiative) £1.8m of new funds to continue this 
work. 
 
2.2 DESCRIPTION OF PURPOSE 

2.2.1 Helping vulnerable families as early as possible is a priority for both the Health and Well-Being 
Board and the Children and Young People’s Partnership. This theme is a golden thread through the 
other priority need area of the Plan and, therefore, there will be a degree of repetition in the 
messages provided here with those given elsewhere in the Plan. This recognises that working with 
vulnerable families can mean dealing with a multiplicity of complex issues: health problems, 
worklessness, non-school attendance, crime, etc. 

Definition of early help 
2.2.2 To ensure that all practitioners across the Children and Young People’s Partnership understand 
what early help means there needs to be a clear local definition. This can be provided within the 
context of the local HSCB agreed Levels of Need. 

2.2.3 Early help and early intervention are interchangeable words but essentially mean the same 
thing.  It means intervening early and as soon as possible to tackle problems emerging for families. 
This includes parents, their children and young people or a population or community. Early 
intervention can occur at any point in a child, young person or adult’s lives.  

2.2.4 Early help services are aimed at families (children, young people and parents/carers) who are 
at level 2 and 3 of the Herefordshire’s Levels of Need thresholds.  

2.2.5 Early help starts at level 2 of the levels of need and describes emerging vulnerabilities in 
families.  In Herefordshire the aim is to support families to help themselves and become more 
resilient to the issues they face.  Universal services at level 1 e.g. school, GP, health visitors, 
voluntary services etc often provide a more personalized approach with families at level 2 by 
providing information, advice, or support early before difficulties become too entrenched. Sometimes 
an additional service is required for the family eg counselling. 

2.2.6 Where there are greater risk factors in the family that require a number of services or partners 
to co-ordinate their responses this describes a Level 3 intervention. 

 

2.2.7 This priority area will specifically draw upon the learning, the tools and the successes of the 
national Troubled Families Programme in its design and delivery. The aim is to support the needs of 
adults and children in families simultaneously to achieve better and sustained outcomes. Too often in 
the past services have worked on one issue with one family member, not fully understanding the 

44



 

  

CYP Plan Draft v 2.0    

family’s dynamics, overwhelming families with different interventions and workers and not achieving 
lasting change. This does not serve families well and costs the public sector more than it should. 

2.2.8 Whilst the principle aim of the Health and Well-Being Board and the Children and Young 
People’s Partnership is to enhance prevention and early intervention, it is recognised that families 
can move through the levels of need – stepping up to statutory services were needs become critical; 
stepping down from statutory services to lower levels of support where need is less acute. Families, 
therefore, may need a variety of services – universal, specialist, intensive – to meet their needs 
across the levels, but the needs of the whole family should be collectively addressed. 

2.2.9 There are six broad categories where, if families meet two or more aspects, would suggest they 
need some level of focused early help: 

1. Parents and children involved in crime and/or anti-social behaviour 
2. Children who have not been attending school regularly 
3. Children who need help 
4. Adults out of work or at risk of financial exclusion and young people at risk of worklessness 
5. Families affected by domestic violence and abuse 
6. Parents and children with a range of health problems 
 

The approach to supporting families generally will also explicitly encompass the Partnership’s role in 
reducing the extent and impact of child poverty across the county. 

2.3 CURRENT STRATEGIES 

2.3.1. A key recommendation of the Children’s Strategic Needs Assessment, undertaken in 2014 was 
to review the county’s approach to early intervention and early help alongside, improved service 
integration and capturing and using data and intelligence around vulnerable and struggling families. 
This review needed to take into account the experience in the county of Phase 1 of the national 
Troubled Families initiative (branded Families First locally). Under this programme Herefordshire 
successfully turned around 310 vulnerable families and attracted £1.2 million additional funding. This 
initiative, however, has not transformed the overall system for the identification and response to 
families needing early help. The Health and Well-Being Board and the Children and Young People’s 
Partnership have agreed that Herefordshire will be part of the Phase 2 of the programme with the aim 
that the initiative becomes an integral part of the Partnership approach to dealing with struggling 
families.  

2.3.2. The Council and its partners have a longstanding approach to locality working.  The Council 
and its partners have aligned staff (e.g. health visitors, police officers) to eight locality teams and 
multi-agency groups (MAGs).  The Common Assessment Framework (CAF) is used to support this 
multi-agency way of working. Significant changes, including budget cuts, have taken effect leaving 
some confusion as to what support is available for vulnerable families. Family support services 
provided within the Children’s Well-being Directorate, therefore, are increasingly working primarily 
with Level 4 families (i.e. those referred and open to social care). Early intervention and help 
provided by the Council and its partners is inconsistent in the processes and procedures used and in 
the response provided.  

2.3.3. This Children and Young People’s Plan provides the vehicle to ensure that Phase Two 
Troubled Families embeds, alongside other direct service resources of the Council and its partners, 
to form a continuum of integrated provision from additional tier 1 universal service through to the 

45



 

  

CYP Plan Draft v 2.0    

threshold of tier 4 and reflects the spirit and the principles of the Children and Young People’s 
Partnership 

2.4 PLANNING PRIORITIES 
 
2.4.1. Based upon national research there are five key characteristics of effective early help which we 
will address locally: 
 

• The best start in life 
• Language for life 
• Engaging parents 
• Smarter working, better services 
• Knowledge is power 
 

Using these characteristics, detailed action plans will be developed, agreed and delivered as part of 
an annual business plan to support the achievement of the goals of the Children and Young People’s 
Plan. 
 
2.4.2 The focus during the first year of the Plan will be: 
 

• Providing children with the best start in life (see below the 0-5 years early years priority) 
• Developing communities and universal services – to build on the County’s strengths and 
assets and to promote self-help 

• Establishing early help business and intelligence functions 
• Revising assessment processes 
• Establishing a multi-agency early help offer 
• An early help workforce development programme 
• Establishing governance and performance management arrangements for early help to 
monitor the impact and effectiveness of the Partners’ approaches 

 
2.5 EARLY HELP AND INTERVENTION – BY MARCH 2018 

2.5.1 An outcomes plan will be developed to set out the goals to be attained over the three year 
period of the Plan. This will state quantifiable targets as to the changes in family circumstances in 
each of the priority need areas identified in para 2.2 (above) These outcomes will also meet the 
requirements of the County being part of the national Troubled Families Programme, providing the 
means to evidence significant and sustained improvement within individual families, which in turn 
should see the achievement of the County’s strategic outcomes. Other partnership boards will need 
to support elements of this programme. The Community Safety Partnership, for example, will have 
strategic oversight of initiatives with respect to crime, anti-social behaviour and domestic abuse. 

3 EARLY YEARS (0-5 Years) 

3.1 OBJECTIVES:  
 

• To develop an integrated approach to improving the health, well-being, developmental and 
educational outcomes of children aged 0-5 years. 

• To ensure better continuity of provision and services across the 0–5 age range with clear and 
agreed pathways between services and between levels of service (for example, between 
universal and universal plus or targeted services). 

46



 

  

CYP Plan Draft v 2.0    

• To ensure smooth transitions across the life course – i.e. between maternity   services and 0-
5 early years services and 5-19 years services.  

• To ensure increasing numbers of children are ready for school at the end of the Early Years 
Foundation Stage (EYFS) and make a successful transition to school  

• To mitigate the effects of poverty, inequality and disadvantage through the provision of high 
quality early education and childcare, the Healthy Child Programme 0-5 years, more effective 
support for parents and narrowing of the early development achievement gaps for the most 
disadvantaged children  

 

3.2 CURRENT STRATEGIES FOR 0-5 YEARS 
 
3.2.1 The Healthy Child Programme (0-5 years) 
 
The Healthy Child Programme (HCP 0-19 years) is a comprehensive universal public health service 
for improving the health and well-being of children through health and development reviews, 
parenting, health promotion, screening and immunisations. It is based on the best available evidence 
(including guidance from the National Institute of Clinical Excellence), delivered by Specialist 
Community Health Practitioners. Health Visitors lead on the HCP for children aged 0-5 years, 
working with other early years’ service providers. The Programme is delivered by interventions at 
various levels:  universal, community, universal plus (targeted early intervention) and universal 
partnership plus (targeted multiagency support for children with more complex needs).  

 

The Healthy Child Programme (0-5 years) supports good physical, mental and social health, well-
being and development, as well as supporting school readiness at the Early Years Foundation Stage 
and helping to lay the foundations of a child’s future educational achievement. The Healthy Child 

47



 

  

CYP Plan Draft v 2.0    

Programme’s universal reach provides an invaluable opportunity to identify and support children who 
are at risk of developing poor outcomes as early as possible 

The Healthy Child Programme offers every family a Programme of screening tests, immunisations, 
developmental reviews, and information and guidance to support parenting and healthy choices – all 
services that children and families need to receive if they are to achieve their optimum health and 
wellbeing. 

As identified from the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and the Director of Public Health’s Annual 
Report (2015), particular priorities for 0-5 year olds in Herefordshire include: 

• Achieving the best possible overall physical and mental health and well-being 
• Improving immunisation rates among children 0-5 years 
• Strategies to reduce tooth decay  
• Improving local breastfeeding initiation and prevalence at 6-8 weeks (continuation)  rates 
• Improved smoking cessation rates during pregnancy and early childhood 
 

Effective implementation of the Healthy Child Programme will contribute towards addressing these 
priorities and will, in addition, support the achievement of:  

• Strong parent–child attachment and positive parenting, resulting in better social and 
emotional wellbeing among children;  

• Care that helps to keep children healthy and safe;  
• Reduced smoking prevalence and reducing the exposure of babies and children to tobacco 
smoking (including exposure in utero) 

• Managing minor illness and reducing accidents and injuries which result in hospital 
attendance or admission 

• Healthy eating and increased activity, leading to a reduction in obesity;   
• Prevention of a range of serious and communicable diseases;  
• Increased rates of initiation and continuation of breastfeeding;   
• Readiness for school and improved learning;  
• Early recognition of growth disorders and risk factors for obesity;  
• Early detection of – and action to address – developmental delay, abnormalities and ill health, 
and concerns about safety; 

• Identification of factors that could influence health and wellbeing in families, including 
maternal mental health; 

• Better short and long-term outcomes for children who are at risk of social exclusion.  
 
3.2.2 Childcare and Education Provision for 0-5 Years 
 
Childcare and early education provision in Herefordshire is provided through a diverse range of 
private, voluntary and independent providers, including childminders, pre-schools and nurseries.  
 
Early Years provision for children age 0–5 years is provided by sessional and full day care pre-
schools and nurseries and with childminders.  Embedded within this childcare provision will almost 
always be the free early education entitlement of 15 hours a week for 38 weeks a year for 
disadvantaged 2 year olds. Levels of provision fluctuate regularly but are currently (as registered with 
and informed by Ofsted):   
 

• 99  childcare settings                                               
• 116 childminders           
• 13 maintained nurseries 

48



 

  

CYP Plan Draft v 2.0    

• 5  independent schools with nursery provision                             
 

Early Education entitlement is available for all children three or four years old. It constitutes a part-
time place (15 hours per week) and is free at the point of delivery. Free places can only be provided 
by Ofsted registered provision and they must deliver the Early Years Foundation Stage curriculum. 
 
Since September 2013 the Government introduced a duty on Local Authorities to provide early 
education places for two year olds requiring additional support. In Herefordshire all eligible two year 
olds will be identified through the Early Help initiative. Health and social care partners will ensure that 
eligible families are aware of and are encouraged to take up their free entitlement. Social care staff 
will also target children in need and children with a child protection plan to take up a free child care 
place.  Plans will be put in place to respond to recent government pledges to increase the availability 
of free child care for 3 and 4 year olds. 
 
3.2.3 Children with a disability and special educational needs 
 
In Herefordshire children with a range of special educational needs and disabilities (including autism, 
cerebral palsy, hearing and visual impairment, spina bifida, severe language disorder and medical 
needs) are welcomed and included in our mainstream childcare provision. Provision may be 
supported by the Council’s team of specialist early years advisors or by additional funding to 
contribute to the support needs of the child. For children with severe and complex needs there is the 
additional option of a nursery class within one of the maintained special schools.  
 
3.2.4 Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS) 
 
The revised EYFS profile introduced in September 2012 consists of 17 early learning goals across 
seven areas of learning. There are three possible assessment scores for each of the early learning 
goals: 1 for emerging: 2 for expected, 3 for exceeding. The expectations for a good level of 
development are that children achieve at least expected (2) in the three prime areas of learning and 
in literacy and mathematics. 

The main overall indicator for the revised EYFS framework is for pupils to show a ‘Good Level of 
Development’ (GLD). In 2014 60% of children in Herefordshire achieved a good level of development 
(this also being the national average)  

A further measure of performance widely used to evaluate the early year’s education sector is the 
“inequality gap”. This is defined as the percentage gap in achievement between the lowest 20 per 
cent of achieving children in a local authority (mean score), and the score of the median.  
 
The achievement gap in Herefordshire as measured by the difference in children in receipt of free 
school meals and all children achieving a GLD. In Herefordshire the gap is currently 30.9% while 
nationally for England it is 33.9%.  
 
3.2.5 Children’s Centre Services 
 
Sure start children’s centres started to be developed in 2004 building on from sure start local 
programmes the work of Early Excellence Centres and Nursery Schools. In 2006 local authorities 
were given the statutory duty to provide children centre services under Section 5A of the Childcare 
Act 2006.Under the Act, the local authority has a general duty to improve the well-being of children 
under five in their area, and reduce inequalities between those children. As part of fulfilling that duty 
the local authority must make arrangements to secure that early childhood services are provided in 
an integrated manner. Within those arrangements the authority must, so far as is reasonably 
practicable, include arrangements for sufficient provision of children’s centres to meet local need. 

49



 

  

CYP Plan Draft v 2.0    

There are opportunities to develop a consistent approach for children’s centre services, alongside 
developing our approach to Health Visitors, School Nurses, adult and community services throughout 
the life of this Plan. 
 

Herefordshire Council currently supports nine children’s centres across the county and is committed 
to ensuring that it continues to provide quality provision for young children and their families that will 
improve: 

• Readiness of children to thrive in school 
• Support for parents and their ability to meet their responsibilities 
• Parents’ opportunity to develop personal skills, education and ability to get work 
• The development of healthy lifestyles for children 
• Parents’ ability to keep their children safe, including when online 
• Children’s chances of reaching their full potential and reduce inequality in their health and 
development. 

 

3.3 PRIORITY DEVELOPMENTS OF THE PLAN 

3.3.1 Commission Effective Healthy Child Programme (0-5) Services from 2015 Onwards 

Commissioning responsibility for 0-5 years Healthy Child Services (Health Visiting and Family Nurse 
Partnership Services) transfers from the NHS to the Local Authority from October 2015.  The priority 
in the first instance will be to ensure the safe transfer of contracts and budgets from the current 
commissioner and the maintenance of service continuity from the current providers. Plans are being 
developed to better integrate these services with other early years and healthy child Programme 
services such as Children’s Centres and School Nursing. While the Healthy Child Programme 
includes Health Visiting and Family Nurse Partnerships (FNP) services, Herefordshire does not 
currently have a FNP or similar service in place for young parents. Commissioning plans will, 
therefore, consider addressing the needs of young vulnerable parents; potential options include a 
targeted, enhanced offer within the Health Visiting Service or commissioning a separate service from 
another provider. 

3.3.2 Improve Health Outcomes for 0-5 Year Olds 

The Plan aims to improve overall health and well-being outcomes for 0-5 year olds in the context of 
their families and communities and emphases a focus on improving immunisation uptake, dental 
health, reducing overweight and obesity, increasing breastfeeding initiation and continuation rates 
and optimizing parental attachment. The details of how these aims will be addressed will be outlined 
in separate action plans. 
 
3.3.3 Improve and update information, advice and guidance for parents and practitioners on 
childcare provision 
 

• Parents have up to date quality information through a new information, advice and 
signposting hub which is accurate, current and links to key health information e.g. 
immunisation, breastfeeding, dental health, obesity. 

• Early years practitioners can access training, advice and guidance through the councils 
website & social media 

• Parents can seek childcare options through the childcare directory quickly and easily and 
search by postcode for nursery provision 

50



 

  

CYP Plan Draft v 2.0    

• Improve our knowledge of sufficiency of childcare by the development of a feedback box on 
the childcare web pages allowing parents to report directly to us if they cannot find the 
childcare they need. 
 

3.3.4 Support improvement of early year’s provision 
 

• Support for early years settings is proportionate to the risk factors identified from Ofsted 
inspections and local data 

• EYFS results are on an upward trajectory and the percentage of children reaching a good 
level of development at the end of EYFS increases from the 2015 base 

• A model for service improvement is agreed with the Herefordshire Improvement Partnership 
• Early years settings are competent in the delivery of all areas of learning in the EYFS 
framework 

• A joint approach is developed with Health Visitors to undertake universal development checks 
for 2 year olds attending provision in Herefordshire 

 
3.3.5 Ensuring sufficient early years provision that matches nursery education funded 
children and parental demand 
 

• Ensure we have a system that captures any gaps in childcare sufficiency across 
Herefordshire 

• Ensure that we have good and outstanding early years settings and childminders to meet the 
2 year old free entitlement  

• Ensure that parents have choice, flexibility when taking up the 15 hour free entitlement for 2,3 
and 4 year olds and that national expectations regarding the expansion of free childcare are 
addressed 

• Develop and implement a Herefordshire Nursery Education Funding (NEF) policy 
• Simplify the current NEF payment process and have in place digital on line payment and a 
process for eligibility checking for the 2 year old free entitlement 

• Develop a realistic marketing/advertising plan within financial constraints to ensure the 
maximum take up of the 2 year old free entitlement. 

• Ensure that children subject to children in need and child protection plans and eligible for the 
NEF free 15 hour childcare entitlement take up the offer 

• Ensure that children subject to children in need and child protection plans have a record of 
GP and dentist registration and of their immunisations. 

• The Families First programme identifies those eligible for free NEF entitlement and 
encourages take up. 
 

3.3.6 Support and enhance the arrangements for 2 year olds 
 

• Improve the 2 year old learning and development assessment and ensure providers 
undertake the assessment and feedback the results in a timely way 

• Increase the percentage of children eligible for free school meals reaching a good level of 
development at the end of EYFS 

• Establish a process for collecting, monitoring and presenting the data from early years 
providers in order to inform the Early Years Strategy Group(EYSG) 

51



 

  

CYP Plan Draft v 2.0    

 
3.3.7 Review and recommission children centre services 
 
The priority for Herefordshire Children’s Centre Services under this Plan will be to ensure that they 
are targeted effectively on those most likely to be disadvantaged.  
 
The Partnership has an opportunity to enhance the delivery of services by building on the current 
approaches in children’s centres with health visiting, school nursing, paediatric therapies, emotional 
health and well-being and adult services. The partnership will oversee the commissioning of these 
services in 2015/16 to ensure they are coordinated together. 
 

• Focus the reach of services into communities with vulnerable families and those with complex 
needs, such as those identified by the Early Help initiative 

• Supporting behaviour change in families at an earlier stage to reduce the need for intensive 
high cost support services (e.g. social care) 

• Maximising the involvement of adult services, community health services and services of the 
community and voluntary sector in the Centres. 

• Develop agreed quality standards which will include the Annual Conversation, data packs and 
governance arrangements 

• Establish opportunities for investment, disinvestment and savings 
• Ensure health visitors are leading the Healthy Child Programme and informing children’s 
centre management plans and community plans 

• Ensure health visitors and other key partners are aware, engaged and proactively supporting 
and disseminating the 2 year old offer to disadvantaged families 

• Better integrate and align the 2 year “Ages and Stages” assessment and the EYFS 
assessment. 
 

3.3.8 Improve Childhood Immunisation 
 

• Working in partnership with NHS England, to ensure provision of an outreach school age 
immunisation service to compliment the primary care service (GPs) 

• Improved sharing of information to enable better targeting of resources to reduce outbreaks 
by ensuring herd immunity, for example increased MMR coverage at 5years. 
 

3.3.9 Reduce Tooth Decay in Children 0-5 Years 
 

• Develop strategies to reduce the prevalence of tooth decay in children 0-5years 
• Engage the early year’s workforce and schools to contribute to the delivery of the healthy 

child Programme, including better oral health care. 
 
3.3.10 Promote Healthy Eating 0-5Years 
 

• Health Visitors to deliver guidance on weaning and healthy eating awareness 
• Consistent guidance, information and advice is available to all relevant stakeholders on 

healthy eating 
 
3.3.11 Promoting Breast Feeding 
 

• Improved strategies to support breast feeding in line with the UNICEF baby-friendly initiative. 

52



 

  

CYP Plan Draft v 2.0    

3.4 OUTCOMES BY MARCH 2018 
 
We aim to achieve the following outcomes by March 2018: 
 

• Reduction in the prevalence of dental decay at age 5 years so that the mean is equal or better 
than the England mean 

• 95% take up for all routine immunisations in 0-5 year olds 
• Year on year reduction in the percentage of five year olds who are overweight or obese 
• Reduction in hospital admissions for unintentional and deliberate injuries in 0-4 year olds from 
25th percentile to between 25th – 75th percentile 

• Reduction in proportion of pregnant women who are smokers at the time of delivery to above 
the 75th percentile for England 

• The proportion of all children achieving a Good Level of Development at the end of the EYFS 
has increased from  60%  to 80% 

• The proportion of children achieving a good level of development at the end of reception as a 
percentage of all eligible by free school meal status has increased from 34% to 60% 

• The gap between all children and those ever having been in receipt of Free School Meals has 
narrowed from  25%  percent to less than 5%  

• The percentage of early years settings judged by Ofsted to be ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’ has 
increased from 86% to 95%  

• High quality free places for 2 year olds are delivered in line with agreed Government targets 
and any further government targets for free child care places are addressed 

•  Social Care and the Families First Programme  ensure that all disadvantaged 2 year olds are 
identified and encouraged to access 15 hours of nursery entitlement 

•  Social Care seeks to ensure that all 2-4 year olds with child in need or child protection plans 
are registered with a nursery provider and  are accessing their 15 hour nursery entitlement 

• We have developed an efficient, quick and easy on line NEF digital payment process that is 
user friendly 

• Information and guidance to childcare providers, practitioners and parents is comprehensive, 
accurate, up to date and easily assessable digitally. 

• Children’s Centre services are re-modelled so that they are more targeted on the 
disadvantaged, better integrated with Health Visitors and deemed good by Ofsted 

• The child care sufficiency audit process enables us to more clearly understand the sufficiency 
in Herefordshire 

• The Nursery Education Fund policy is implemented in the county to provide high quality, 
accessible and flexible provision 

• Year on year percentage reduction in the number of children under 16 years living in poverty 
 

4.  MENTAL HEALTH AND EMOTIONAL WELLBEING 

4.1 OBJECTIVES 
 
4.1.1 The Hereford Children and Young People’s Partnership seeks to protect children and give them 
a good start in life. Emotional well-being and good mental health are crucial to this. In Herefordshire, 

53



 

  

CYP Plan Draft v 2.0    

an estimated 8,620 children and young people require support with their mental health or emotional 
resilience1. 

4.1.2 Through our work, we will: 

• Improve the provision of timely information, advice and support to promote the well-being of 
children and young people and assist parents, carers and practitioners who work with them to 
support their needs; 

• Ensure that services provided to meet the mental health and well-being needs of children and 
young people are evidence-based, of good quality and compliant with essential standards (i.e.  
NHS standards, NICE guidance) 

• Raise awareness of mental health and emotional well-being in children and young people and 
tackle stigma associated with it. 

Recognise that vulnerable children and young people are more likely to be affected by mental health 
and will ensure provision is available for those vulnerable groups to strengthen their resilience and 
well-being. 

4.2 DESCRIPTION OF PURPOSE 

4.2.1 The activities in this area relate to mental health and emotional well-being of children and 
young people living in Herefordshire from pre-birth to young adulthood. Emotional well-being enables 
children and young people to:  

• Develop psychologically, socially and intellectually; 
• Initiate, develop and sustain mutually satisfying personal relationships; 
• Gain self-esteem; 
• Play and learn; 
• Become aware of others and empathise with them; 
• Develop a sense of right and wrong; and 
• Resolve problems and setbacks and learn from them. 
 

4.2.2 Good mental health support for children and young people is characterised by: 
 

• Early identification of mental health needs 
• Access to assessment and treatment in a timely manner 
• Supports the person with self-management and recovery 
• Recognition of the role of the family and carers. 
 

4.2.3 This Programme of work relates to meeting a range of needs exhibited by children and young 
people, including: 

• Attachment  
• Emotional and behavioural disorders  
• Psychosis 
• Depressive disorders 
• Attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) 

                                                           
1
 Mental Health Needs Assessment (2015) 

54



 

  

CYP Plan Draft v 2.0    

• Autistic-spectrum disorders 
• Self-harm and suicide attempts 
• Obsessive compulsive disorders 
• Phobias and anxiety disorders 
• Mental health problems secondary to abuse experiences and trauma 
• Mental health problems associated with physical health problems 
 

4.3 STRATEGIES 

4.3.1 Herefordshire Children and Young People’s Partnership is committed to improvements in 
provision of support for children and young people and their families as a result of: 
 
a) National Recommendations from the Government’s Task Force on child and adolescent 
mental health and emotional well-being issues and subsequent Department of Health “Future 
in Mind: promoting, protecting and improving our children and young people’s mental health 
and wellbeing”. 
 

b) The National and local Mental Health Crisis Care Concordat declaration. 

c) The recently developed Herefordshire Mental Health Needs Assessment (March 2015). This 
Assessment concluded that there was a need to: 

• Enhance tiers 1 and 2 supports for children and young people 
• Improve the availability and quality of information available on mental health and well-

being to young people, parents and carers 
• Improve professionals’ knowledge and awareness of the signs and symptoms of 

mental health, tiers of need, thresholds and referral routes 
• Improve collaboration between service providers in the identification and response to 

emotional health, well-being and mental health need 
• Development of comprehensive referral care pathway using a tiered ‘stepped’ model.  

 
4.3.2 The tiered model of mental health services is often referred to when examining the 
arrangement of services to address the needs of children and young people.  

Figure 1: The four-tiered CAMHS framework 

   
  T

ie
r 

1 Services provided by practitioners working in universal services (such as GPs, health 
visitors, teachers and providers of youth services ), who are not necessarily mental health 
specialists. They offer general advice and treatment for less severe problems, promote 
mental health, aid early identification of problems and refer to more specialist services. 

   
  T

ie
r 

2 Services provided by specialists working in community and primary care settings in a uni-
disciplinary way (such as primary mental health workers psychologists and pediatric 
clinics). They offer consultation to families and other practitioners, outreach to identify 
severe/complex needs, and assessments and training to practitioners at Tier 1 to support 
service delivery. 

55



 

  

CYP Plan Draft v 2.0    

   
Ti

e
r 

3 Services usually provided by a multi-disciplinary team of service working in a community 
mental health clinic, child psychiatry outpatient service of community setting. They offer 
a specialised service for those with more severe, complex and persistent disorders. 

   
Ti

e
r 

4 Services for children and young people with the most serious problems. These included 
day units, highly specialised outpatient teams and inpatient unit, which usually service 
more than one area. 

 
4.3.3 Tier 1 (Universal) 
 
The majority of work with children and young people to meet their mental health needs and support 
their emotional well-being will be provided at universal service/ primary level by GPs, health visitors, 
school health services, providers of youth services, school pastoral services, parenting programmes 
and other community agencies. 
 

The Herefordshire Children and Young People’s Partnership will develop collaborative 
commissioning priorities for the promotion of Tier 1 well-being initiatives involving practitioners from 
all settings. Priority will be given to the provision of education, training and support to: 

 
• GP and primary care staff 
• Staff in schools and colleges 
• Children centres and early years settings 
• Community health staff 
• Social care staff (social workers, family support workers etc) 
• Youth Offending Service staff 
• Volunteers, mentors and peer supporters of children and young people 

 
The second area of priority is to articulate the care pathway so that referrals are appropriate, timely 
and wrap around support is available for the child or young person. 
 
All services should be nurturing and promote the resilience of children and young people. Support to 
families is a critical part of this, starting from pre-birth building attachment between child and parent, 
continuing into early childhood and teenage years with positive parenting. 
 
Figure 2: Parent-Child interdependencies and Mental Health  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

56



 

  

CYP Plan Draft v 2.0    

Parental mental illness has an adverse effect on child mental health and development. Equally, child 
psychological and psychiatric disorders and the stress of parenting can impinge on adult mental 
health. Figure 2 illustrates these interdependencies. The work of the CYPP on mental health and 
emotional well-being will link to developments in Adult Mental Health services so that the impact of 
mental health within a family is recognised and supported by all agencies. This will include joint 
commissioning across the Partnership. 
 
The third area is the co-ordination of local awareness events and information. This will tackle stigma 
and enable children and young people to talk about their mental health, their wellbeing and improve 
their resilience. Through this priority area, we want to strengthen communities including communities 
of children and young people to support each other. Activities such as first aid in mental health, peer 
networks and campaigns are part of this approach to promote positive behaviours and resilience. 
 
The intended outcome from this work is that Tier 1 practitioners should be able to: 
 

• Identify mental health and well-being needs early in their  development 
• Provide general advice and support 
• Ensure children and young people are referred to appropriate agencies to meet their mental 
health and emotional well-being needs. 

• Provide services to children and young people in co-ordinated partnerships with others as 
required. 

• Prevent an escalation of mental health and well-being problems by identifying risk factors and 
taking steps to reduce them. 

• Appropriately share information with other practitioners to enable effective joint working to 
meet the mental health and emotional well-being needs of children and young people. 

 
Children and young people will be able to recognise and take steps towards keeping well. They will 
be assured that others around them understand how they are feeling and know that they will be 
supported to access help when needed. 

4.3.4 Tiers 2 and 3 (Targeted and Specialist Services) 
 
Tier 2 mental health services should be provided by specialist trained mental health professionals, 
working primarily on their own, rather than in a team.  They see children and young people with a 
variety of mental health problems that have not responded to Tier 1 interventions or are inappropriate 
for them. This includes youth offending team staff, primary mental health workers, educational 
psychologists and school and voluntary sector counsellors.   
 
Tier 2 provision is under developed in Herefordshire and the Partnership will consider the capacity for 
improvement. A strong Tier 2 provision will build confidence and capacity among Tier 1 professionals 
to meet the needs of the children and young people with whom they serve and to avoid the necessity 
for an escalation of need and concomitant service response. 
 
Tier 3 mental health services comprises of more specialist community services provided by multi-
disciplinary teams or teams assembled for a specific purpose on the basis of the complexity and 
severity of the needs of children and young people. Engaging in the national CYP-IAPT programme 
(improving access to psychological therapies) will aid the growth of local tier 2 and 3 responses as 
well as improving child-centred services. 

57



 

  

CYP Plan Draft v 2.0    

 
The key priorities for this area are: 

• Seek opportunities to strengthen the capacity of Tier 2, including use of technology and peer 
support for young people. 

• Ensure that evidence-based therapies and support are available across the Partnership 
through the development of CYP IAPT 

• Ensure greater equality of provision across Herefordshire with respect to accessing Tiers 2 
and 3 services including improved access for young people with early psychosis and out of 
hours provision 

• Improve transitions for young people entering adult mental health services 
• Assure the delivery and effectiveness of commissioned services for prioritised groups of 
children and young people: 
 

- looked after children 
- children and young people known to the Youth Offending Service 
- those with conduct disorders and challenging behaviours 
- Children and young people experiencing a mental health crisis 

 
The intended outcomes are: 
 

• Early intervention and prevention is available that reduces the development of mental health 
deterioration. 

• The services are flexible, accessible and appropriate for children and young people, meeting 
their needs effectively and efficiently. 

 
4.3.5 Tier 4 (Specialist) 

Tier 4 services are highly specialised services in residential, day patient or out-patient settings for 
children and young people with severe and/or complex problems requiring a combination or intensity 
of interventions that cannot be provided by Tier 3 CAMHS.  They also include day care and 
residential facilities provided otherwise than by the NHS, such as residential school, and very 
specialised residential social care settings including specialised therapeutic foster care. The majority 
of commissioning of tier 4 services are external to the Partnership, e.g. inpatient units.   

The key priority of the Partnership will be to campaign for appropriate access to tier 4 services and 
support rehabilitation and resettlement for children and young people post tier 4.  This will secure the 
outcome of an improved child or young person’s experience, preventing the escalation of the acuity 
of need, keeping children and young people as well as possible and receiving care as close to home 
as possible. 

4.4 PLANNING PRIORITIES 

4.4.1 Achieving the priority areas summarised in Figure 3 will transform the volume and quality of 
support available in Herefordshire based on the development of shared models of care. 
 
 
 
 
 

58



 

  

CYP Plan Draft v 2.0    

Figure 3: Priority Areas for Mental Health and Emotional Wellbeing  
 
Tier 1 Universal Provision 

1. Provision of education, training and support to front-line practitioners 

2. Development of a care pathway (all tiers) 

Tier 2 and 3 Targeted and Specialist Provision 

3. Seek opportunities to strengthen the capacity of Tier 2 

4. Participation in the national CYP IAPT programme 

5. Improve transitions processes for young people entering adult mental health 
services 

6. Delivery of Crisis Care Concordat Action plan with an urgent care pathway 
for young people 

7. Improvement to specialist support e.g. out of hours and for treatment of 
early psychosis 

Tier 4 

8. Develop rehabilitation and home treatment model of care 

 
4.5 OUTCOMES BY MARCH 2018 
 
4.5.1 Partnership wishes to ensure that all contributors to this Plan engage in initiatives to promote 
the emotional well-being and mental health of children and young people across the County and that 
children, young people and their families have the information and support when required. By March 
2018 we will: 
 

• Operate integrated effective care pathways for children and young people in need of support 
for their mental health needs; 

• Continue to have low numbers of young people appropriately using tier 4 specialist services; 
• Have a skilled workforce that champions early identification of mental health and ensures that 
children, young people and their families are treated with compassion, respect and dignity, 
without stigma or judgement; 

• Improve the capacity and availability of tier 1 and 2 provision offering early intervention to 
children, young people and their families; 

• Improve the range of evidence based interventions available in the county delivered in young 
people friendly settings and increased the quality of provision; and 

• Have children and young people tell us that they know how to look after their mental health 
and that support is accessible. 

 
4.5.2 Measuring our success will be through monitoring of the step-change. This will include: 
 

• Exploring the effectiveness of provision; 
• Performance monitoring including access and quality such as urgent assessment within four 
hours, zero tolerance to young people with mental health needs held in police custody, 50% 
of young people with a first episode of psychosis receiving treatment within two weeks; 

• Feedback from children, young people and their families; and 

59



 

  

CYP Plan Draft v 2.0    

• Feedback from the workforce. 
 
5 CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE IN NEED OF SAFEGUARDING 
 
5.1 OBJECTIVES 
 
5.1.1 Children and young people whose welfare requires safeguarding or promoting by statutory 

services should receive a timely and quality provision that seeks to enable them to have their 
needs met by universal, targeted and specialist provision as soon as is practicable and safe 
to do so. For those requiring longer-term alternative care there is a need to ensure stability 
and continuity of their support at the earliest possible opportunity. The Council and its 
Partners also need to ensure that the commitment it gives to those with enduring risks and 
needs is material and effective in their transition into adulthood. 

5.1.2 The Strategic Aims of this Plan are:  

• To have in place a continuum of provision that  can effectively identify and respond to signs of 
the need for early help to multi-systemic evidenced interventions for complex safeguarding 
circumstances 

• To have a competent workforce across the Partnership that is clear in its role and remit for the 
delivery of those supports and services 

• To secure the participation and engagement of children, young people, their parents and 
carers in the implementation of that continuum of provision 

• To ensure that cases can move efficiently up and down the continuum of help as 
circumstances require  

• To secure demonstrable outcomes that enable people to re-engage with mainstream and 
universal services as their usual network of support 

• To support those with enduring long-term needs from childhood into adulthood. 

5.2 CURRENT STRATEGIES 

5.2.1 The Partnership has a key responsibility to ensure that children are safeguarded from 
significant harm. This includes: 

• Protecting children from maltreatment 

• Preventing impairment of children’s health and development 

• Ensuring children are growing up in circumstances consistent with the provision of safe 
and effective care 

• Undertaking the role so as to enable those children to have optimum life chances and to 
enter adulthood successfully.  

Children presenting with these needs will be a child in need as defined by the Children Act 1989 and 
require either a Level 3 or Level 4 intervention from Children’s Services and its partners. 

 

60



 

  

CYP Plan Draft v 2.0    

5.2.2 Priority “vulnerable groups” that may constitute children in need include: 

• Children at risk of abuse and neglect 
• Children who go missing from home, school or care 
• Children who are at risk of sexual exploitation 
• Disabled children 
• Homeless children and families 
• Young carers 
• Roma gypsies and Travellers 
• Troubled Families 
• Children living in households with domestic violence or abuse 
• Children living with parents with drug and alcohol problems 
• Children living with parents with mental health problems 
• Children living with criminal parents or siblings. 

 

5.2.3 At present the Herefordshire Safeguarding Children Board (HSCB) has responsibility for 
overseeing the effectiveness of cross-agency action to safeguard children and young people in the 
County. In addition, the HSCB has a remit to evaluate the efficiency and effectiveness of early help 
provided to vulnerable children and young people so to avoid the need for safeguarding services at a 
later date. The current strategic priorities of the Board are: 

• To ensure the HSCB is an effective agent for change that has a real impact on the lives of 
children and families 

• Improving the recognition and response to CSE and children and young people who go 
missing 

• Supporting increased resilience in individuals, families and communities 
• Safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children and young people who are being abused 
and/or neglected. 

 

5.2.4 In March 2015 there were 1600 children in need known to the Children’s Well-Being Directorate 
of Herefordshire Council, of which 276 were Looked After and 186 subject to a Child Protection Plan. 
Herefordshire’s rate of children becoming a child in need is higher than both national comparators 
and statistical neighbours. Moreover the rate of increase has been growing over the past six years. 
Strategies in this Plan seek to stem that increase and reverse the trend. 

The main reason for becoming a child in need in Herefordshire is either abuse or neglect of family 
dysfunction (most commonly domestic abuse). The main reason for a Child Protection Plan is 
emotional abuse. 

5.2.5 The current direct work service provision for children in need is in need of review and 
reconfiguration. This is because the traditional role and remit of these services has changed so much 
over the past three to five years and the priorities currently facing the Partnership are somewhat 
different than in earlier periods. The services to be reviewed under this Plan include: 

• Family support workers 
• Intensive family support workers 
• Family Centre workers 
• Youth support workers 

61



 

  

CYP Plan Draft v 2.0    

• Vulnerable young person workers 
• Parental assessors 
• Family group conference co-ordinators 
• Common Assessment Framework (CAF) co-ordinators 
 

The review of these staff will need to take into account staff with complimentary roles in Partner 
organisations (e.g. Health Visitors, Family Nurse Practitioners) to ensure coherence of future service 
provision. 

 

5.3 PRIORITY DEVELOPMENTS OF THE PLAN 

To have in place a continuum of provision that can effectively identify and respond to safeguarding 
risks and needs ranging from the initial signs of the call for early help to a suite of evidence-based 
interventions for a variety of complex situations. 

5.3.1 Looked After Children  

• Effectively implement the recently developed  strategy for Looked After Children 
• Ensure that children looked after have access to resources to support their physical, 
emotional and social health and well-being. 

• Improve the educational attainment and achievement of children looked after by the Council 
• Support young people with their leisure and outside school interests to build their talents and 
foster self-esteem 

• Implement a Care Placement Strategy which seeks to step down children to their own home 
wherever possible and safe to do so, ensure placement stability and provide adequate 
support for young people with additional needs (e.g. risk factors for offending) 

• Step-down children from high cost residential placements to the newly commissioned 
Herefordshire Intensive Placement Support Service (HIPSS) and the Therapeutic Intensive 
Support Service (TISS) providing wrap around support to children and young people. 

• Increase the capacity of in-house foster carers and reduce the reliance on the use of 
independent foster agencies. 

• Promote and market the foster carer strategy to develop greater service capacity 
• Provide dedicated staff to support supervised contacts, assessments and family group 
conferencing services for children in the care system 

• Improve the quality of staffing within the 16+ team leaving care. 
• Improve the participation of children and young people in their care planning to maximize their 
independence, choice and control 

• Better identification of and support to children from other Local Authority areas placed in 
Herefordshire. 
 

5.3.2 Safeguarding and Child Protection 

The HSCB will continue to have a key role and remit in scrutinising the development and delivery of 
safeguarding services for children and young people and the evaluation of the efficiency and 
effectiveness of early help. There will be an active dialogue between the HSCB and the Children’s 
and Young People’s Partnership on strategic service developments, the delivery of quality 
interventions and supports and the evidenced outcomes from statutory intervention. 

62



 

  

CYP Plan Draft v 2.0    

5.3.3 Identification and Response to Children in Need 

To reconfigure direct work provision for Children in Need into a coherent and cohesive continuum of 
support that will effectively meet the needs of the prioritised groups of vulnerable children in 
Herefordshire. This provision will include: 
 

• Specialist intervention services on step-down from statutory provision ( child in need or child 
protection plan) to early help and universal service 

• Crisis intervention for those on the edge of care 
• A Family Intervention  Project to respond to the therapeutic needs of children and young 
people and their families 

 
The CAF will be reviewed and revised to make it more user friendly to be in line with a single 
assessment when this is introduced into Herefordshire. 
 
 
The support workers in the direct work service will work with children young people and their families 
where the children or young people have been assessed at levels 3 and 4 on the Herefordshire level 
of need pathway or those that have recently stepped down from level 4 to level 3 and whose needs 
are supported through a CAF.  The services will include those for children in the Looked After 
System, those on the Edge of Care, on Child Protection Plans and Child in Need Plans the level and 
intensity of support will be commensurate with the level of need of the family and will be individually 
tailored. 
 
The overall target will be to reduce the number of children and young people moving into care, to 
reduce the number on child protection and child in need plans. 
 
In future when the numbers of children and young people in care and on plans has reduced then 
there will be potential to redirect a proportion of the direct work services to level 3 cases and deliver 
early intervention support work.    
 
5.4 OUTCOMES BY MARCH 2018 
 

5.4.1 We will know that we have been successful in achieving our planning aims by 2018 when we 
have: 
 

• Increased the ability to offer effective early help within the context of universal provision 
• Demonstrated that our early help offer is effective in obviating the need for subsequent 
safeguarding intervention 

• Increased the number of young people identified at risk of, or being sexually exploited. 
• Reduced the number of children and young people requiring a child protection plan overall, 
for two years or more or on more than one occasion 

• Reduced overall the number of children and young people needing to be Looked After 
• Reduced the number of children in need going on to require to be Looked After 
• Establish permanence  for those with enduring needs 
• Ensured that those young people in statutory frameworks requiring support on transition 
understand their plan and support its delivery.  

 

63



 

  

CYP Plan Draft v 2.0    

6 ADDRESSING CHALLENGES FOR ADOLESCENTS  
 

6.1 OBJECTIVES 

6.1.1 Young people in Herefordshire are entitled to develop, learn and achieve in settings that 
facilitate their successful transition to adult life. Where the behavioural, emotional and social 
needs of young people challenge and jeopardise this transition the Partnership wishes to 
have in place a strategy to meet those needs and support social inclusion. 

6.1.2 The strategic priorities of this Plan include: 

• To reduce the number of first time entrants into the anti-social behaviour and youth justice 
systems. 
 

• To reduce the rate of re-offending and repeat anti-social behaviour by children and young 
people. 
 

• To reduce the incidence of bullying among children and young people 
 

• Reduce the incidence of young people’s health being compromised( e.g. by not accessing 
health services, the misuse of substances, teenage pregnancy)   

 
• To ensure effective behaviour management skills and supports are available to families, 
carers, schools, youth and leisure service providers to enable children and young people to 
maximise their potential. 

 
• To ensure that the education, training, employment and accommodation needs of children 
and young people who offend or engage in anti-social behaviour are appropriately assessed 
and met. 

 
• To identify, prioritise and support those young people not in education, employment or 
training (NEET), including those who are young parents. 

 
 
 
 
6.2 CURRENT STRATEGIES 
 
6.2.1. Level 1 (Universal) 
 
Current strategies for managing challenges to social inclusion at Level 1 include: 
 

• School-based ‘values’ curriculum alongside personal, social and health education (PHSE) 
initiatives – focusing on the responsibilities of young people as good citizens, the avoidance 
of anti-social behaviour and crime, the avoidance of the use of substances. 
 

• Programmes promoting the prevention of anti-social behaviour and crime presented to 
schools and in other community settings  

 
• Assistance to parents to develop strategies to respond to children and young people’s 
challenging behaviours (e.g. Webster Stratton) 

 

64



 

  

CYP Plan Draft v 2.0    

• Promotion of pro-social role models for young people. 
 

• Activity and play opportunities to channel the behaviours of children and young people 
towards constructive outcomes which promote their self-esteem. 

 
The primary strategic objective for Level 1 services is to ensure that an integrated range of provision 
is in place to help children, young people maximise their potential.  This requires existing service 
provision to improve both with respect to the quality of services provided and their co-ordination.   
 
 
6.2.2. Level 2 (Targeted) 
 
Targeted services which focus on social inclusion include: 
 

• Interventions accompanying a caution, case managed by West Mercia Youth Offending 
Service (WMYOS) 

• Restorative justice initiatives 
• Targeted parenting support via schools and early intervention services 
• Work through school-based intervention/student support centres 
• Targeted mental health strategies (TAMHS)in schools and learning settings 
• Case-based work of the Behaviour Outreach Service 
• Support to young people not in education, employment or training (NEET) 
 

The primary strategic activity around Level 2 needs and services will be to ensure that intervention is 
targeted at those with significant risk factors.  This will be facilitated by the development of a 
common language of risk and vulnerability across the Partnership.  The Common Assessment 
Framework (CAF) will be utilised for those identified with behaviour management vulnerabilities.   
 

6.2.3. Level 3 (Referred) 
 

Priority groups for Level 3 service supports include: 
 
• Children and young people referred to WMYOS by the police post-charge decisions (bail or 
remand) 

• Children and young people in receipt of an order or programme from a court. 
• Looked After Children with behaviour management vulnerabilities. 
• Young people not in education, employment or training 
• Children and young people with special education needs manifesting  challenging behaviour 
• 16 – 18 year olds unable to live at home due to behavioural issues requiring supported 
accommodation, including care leavers. 

• Children and young people with substance misuse needs 
• Children and young people at risk of sexual exploitation 
• Children and young people with mental health difficulties needing hospital or home tuition 
• Young people with long-term conditions transferring from children’s to adults health services  
 

The main thrust of the Plan at Level3 levels is to ensure effective delivery of co-ordinated services to 
those referred with an escalating behavioural need. 

65



 

  

CYP Plan Draft v 2.0    

 
6.2.4. Level 4 (Specialist) 
 

Specialist services for children and young people with challenges to their social inclusion include: 
 
• WMYOS case management of Youth Rehabilitation Orders (YROs) and Detention and 
Training Orders (DTOs) 

• WMYOS Sexually Harmful Behaviours Programme 
• Herefordshire Intensive Placement Support Service (HIPSS) and Therapeutic Intensive 
Support Service (TISS) 

• Local specialist provision ( special schools and PRUs) including those with an Education, 
Health and Care Plan 

• Access to specialised diagnostic, consultation and treatment services such as CAMHS. 
 
These arrangements will continue to be in place under this Plan, although we envisage fewer Level 4 
services should be required to meet the needs of children and young people. 
 

6.3. PLANNING PRIORITIES 
 

• Partnership endorsed programmes of support targeted to enhance the parenting skills of 
those with children and young people whose behaviour may challenge their well-being. 

• Reconfiguration of support services to schools and young people’s services (e.g. the outreach 
service, CAMHs) to provide more direct support related to the identification and response to 
behaviour management issues. 

• Enhancement of child and young person-focused substance misuse treatment services. 

• A shared database on young people with challenges to their social inclusion will be developed 
across the agencies comprising the Herefordshire Children and Young People’s Partnership. 

• A better understanding of the emergent drivers for offending and re-offending (e.g. linkages 
between the use of legal highs and offending; victims and perpetrators of CSE) 

• Review the evidence-base for effective intervention programmes to tackle youth crime and 
anti-social behaviour and revise local programmes accordingly. 

• Develop an effective anti-bullying strategy that addresses the needs of both victims and 
perpetrators (including the promotion of e-safety) 

• Develop a Partnership diversion strategy and ensure that a rolling programme of diversionary 
activities is in place to meet the needs of those at risk of crime and anti-social behaviour. 

• Implement a restorative justice strategy in the County with the priorities of reducing first time 
entrants to the youth justice system and promoting restorative approaches to disputes in 
children’s homes (including private children’s homes). 

• Enhance the capacity of accommodation provision for remand and PACE beds 

• Improved capacity within the WMYOS to meet the needs of Looked After Children who offend 
or are at risk of offending. 

• The development of pathways to meet the additional needs of young people in the youth 
justice system (e.g. parenting support, substance misuse). 

66



 

  

CYP Plan Draft v 2.0    

• All providers of services to children and young people in Herefordshire, including schools, 
respite care facilities and residential providers, have in place a child sexual exploitation 
strategy compliant with Herefordshire Safeguarding Children’s Board requirements. 

• Enhancing accommodation provision (Foyers and supported housing services) for young 
people who are homeless, or at risk of homelessness, as a result of their offending or anti-
social behaviour. 

 
6.4. OUTCOMES BY MARCH 2018 
 

• Fewer children and young people with permanent and fixed-term exclusion from school. 
• Sustaining the current (April 2015) levels of first time entrants to the youth justice system 
• Fewer children and young people placed in custody as a result of their offending behaviour. 
• Fewer placements in specialist educational settings as a result of challenging behaviour 
• Fewer children and young people placed in residential facilities to meet their behaviour 

management needs. 
• Anti-social behaviour involving children and young people being primarily addressed through 

restorative justice approaches 
• Fewer young people not in education, employment or training. 
• Reduced rates of re-offending among young people subject to court ordered intervention 
• Prevalence rates of young people smoking, drinking and misusing substances reduced 

 
7 CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES 
 
7.1 OBJECTIVES 
 
7.1.1 Our vision in Herefordshire for children and young people with disabilities, including those with 
special education needs or on the autistic spectrum, is the same as for all of Herefordshire’s children 
and young people – that they are healthy, safe and achieve well; and that they go on to lead happy 
and fulfilled lives with choice and control. 
 

7.1.2. The strategic aims of this priority area are to:  
 

• Publish and maintain the Herefordshire ‘Local Offer’ for children and young people with 
disabilities and special educational needs  

• Implement a project to design and deliver integrated multi-agency pathway.  The pathway will 
inform service re-design and joint commissioning arrangements within and between partner 
agencies. It will include the key transition points for children, young people and families, 
including transition to adulthood 

• Deliver the new Education, Health & Care (EHC) planning requirements to identify and meet 
special educational need and a plan for conversion of existing Statements and Learning 
Difficult Assessments by 2018. 

• Publish initial ‘Personal Budgets’ arrangements for education, health and care along with 
advice and guidance. Implement a Herefordshire approach  that enables the personalisation 
of services  

67



 

  

CYP Plan Draft v 2.0    

• Further develop the use of community or family- based, rather than institution- based, respite 
care. 

• Enhance the Children’s Integrated Needs Analysis to focus specifically on children and young 
people with disabilities to inform a joint commissioning strategy (to be agreed by September 
2015). The  updated strategic needs analysis will be informed by a review of Herefordshire’s 
most complex cases with a view to improving multi-agency practice and developing early 
intervention approaches to prevent the need for later residential placement. 

• Support people with a disability to overcome barriers to inclusion in area such as 
employment, training, further education and access to housing. 

7.2. CURRENT STRATEGIES 

7.2.1 Currently, and as a precursor to revised business processes being put in place to meet the 
needs of children with disabilities and their families, a number of development initiatives are being 
undertaken and progressed within the CHIPP framework. These include: 

• The re-modelling of services for children with disabilities within Children’s Social Care 
• Examining the potential for developing the market of service providers for services for children 
with disabilities 

• Exploring how the voices of children and parents may be better heard in the design and 
delivery of services to meet the needs of those with disability 

• Offering greater control to children with disabilities and their families in the delivery of 
services. 

 
7.2.2 In this latter regard a number of initiatives are currently being progressed. These include: 

• Design and delivery of an integrated multi-agency pathway project 
• Exploration of improving synergy between education, health and care in undertaking multi-
agency assessments 

• Examining the options for progressing the use of personal budgets and personal health 
budgets by service users 

• Reviewing the re-commissioning of short break services 
• Developing an action plan for enhancing specialist childcare provision 
• Improving the needs analysis data with respect to children with disabilities 
• Reviewing and revising arrangements for the transition of young people with disabilities into 
adulthood 

• Reviewing the capabilities of preventative interventions to meet the needs of those with 
complex disabilities and other complex needs 

 
These developmental initiatives, when concluded, will inform the strategies that are proposed to be 
rolled out under this aspect of the Children and Young People’s Plan.  
 
7.2.3 This Plan also incorporates the Joint Children’s and Adults’ Autism Strategy for Herefordshire 
which is a strategic initiative developed between the County Council and the Herefordshire CCG. 
This strategy currently is scheduled to be progressed up to 2017 and prioritises the following issues: 

• Increasing awareness and understanding for those who provide services to people on the 
autistic spectrum 

68



 

  

CYP Plan Draft v 2.0    

• Improved identification and diagnosis of autism in children and adults, leading to assessment 
of need for relevant services 

• Improved transition planning for people on the autistic spectrum as they move from being 
children to adults 

• Raising the profile of autism in local planning and leadership forums, particularly through the 
use of personalised budgets 

• Improving support to parents, families and carers of people with autism 
• Supporting people on the autistic spectrum involved in the criminal justice system 
• Getting the right housing and housing support for people on the autistic spectrum 
• Helping people on the autistic spectrum into employment, training and further education. 

 
 

7.3. PRIORITY DEVELOPMENTS OF THE PLAN 
 
7.3.1. The following are the current priority developments for this aspect of the Plan:  

Updated Integrated Pathways for Disabled People 

• Design and deliver integrated multi-agency pathway that identifies opportunities for improved 
co-ordination, integration and service redesign in the identification and response to the needs 
of disabled children and young people and their families 

• Review arrangements for young people approaching the transition to adult life including 
exploring greater co-ordination of 16+ arrangements across all agencies. 
 

The Local Offer 

• Enhance the content and usage of local offer including SEN Direct or other  e-brokerage 
systems and the links with information advice and guidance available  for adults in 
Herefordshire. 

 
Education, Health and Care Plans 

• Evaluate the impact of early EHC changes (effective from September 2014) 
• Develop greater coordination, integration and efficiency within multi-agency assessment 
within the Education, Health and Care Plan development 
 

Specialist Care 
 

• Implement an action plan for specialist childcare requirements based on a robust needs 
analysis 
 

Personalisation 

• Publish initial ‘Personal Budgets’ arrangements advice and guidance  
• Develop Herefordshire’s approach across agencies, incorporating children and adults 
arrangements 
 

Short Breaks 

• Review Phase 1 contracts to recommend extension or termination 

69



 

  

CYP Plan Draft v 2.0    

• Produce joint Phase 2 market development and commissioning plan with CCG and deliver 
revised arrangements from March 2016 

 

Strategic Needs Analysis 

• Analyse the needs and trends of the CWD and SEN populations to update the Children’s 
Integrated Needs Analysis to focus more on children with disabilities and inform a joint 
commissioning strategy to be agreed by September 2015 

• Undertake an analysis of the most complex cases with a view to developing early intervention 
approaches to prevent the need for later residential care  
 
 

7.3.2. Progressing these priorities should lead to: 
 

• Families feeling better informed and better able to make choices about the support they can 
access for their children and themselves 

• Children, young people and their families experience effective multi-agency assessment and 
planning with joined up care through an integrated pathway 

• Services that are shaped and designed by children and families 
• Reduced reliance on institutionalised care and greater access to support at or near home 
• Communities and markets feeling supported to innovate and invest in short break services 
that families can directly access themselves 

• Families taking up direct payments and choosing their own support packages, including the 
option of a personal budget 

• New overnight short break services being jointly commissioned 
• Greater access to specialist childcare provision for 0-19 year olds with a disability (in excess 
of 600 children and young people receiving service by 2018) 

• Better co-ordination of children’s and adults ’services to ensure enhanced and cost efficient 
transition to adult support. 

 
7.4 OUTCOMES BY MARCH 2018 
 
7.4.1. We will know that we have been successful in achieving our planning aims by 2018 when we: 
 

• Offer clear advice, signposting and information to enable children, young people and their 
families to make informed choices and take more control of their own lives with appropriate 
levels of support in arranging education, training, social, leisure, housing and employment 
opportunities. 

• Provide effective early support to prevent needs escalating and reduce the proportion of 
families that ultimately enter the child in need, child protection or looked after systems 

• Provide a ‘whole system approach’ for children and young people with disability 0-25 years 
including across the major transition points, including moving into adulthood. Delivering 
seamless and straightforward pathways and support when seen from the child’s and family’s 
point of view. 

70



 

  

CYP Plan Draft v 2.0    

• Have reduced duplication of effort by streamlining assessments, sharing information and 
delivering services with better integration 

• Have a shared understanding of need at the individual and population level 
• Have services judged to be ‘good’ by relevant regulatory agencies 
• Deliver services within the resources available: 
 10,500hours of day-time short breaks for 100 children and their families 
 450 children supported by a co-ordinated education, health and care plan 
 200 families supported by an improved social care children with disabilities  team. 
 

8. GOVERNANCE, REVIEW AND INFRASTRUCTURE 
 
8.1. PARTNERSHIP ARRANGEMENTS 

8.1.1. The Herefordshire Children and Young People’s Partnership consists of the following: 

• Lead Member for Children’s Well-Being – Herefordshire Council 
• Director of Children’s Well-Being Services –Herefordshire Council 
• Chief Operating Officer, Herefordshire Clinical Commissioning Group 
• Superintendent of Herefordshire Police 
• Chair of the Herefordshire Safeguarding Children Board 
• Chair of Early Years Forum 
• Secondary School representative 
• Primary School representative 
• College representative 
• Special School representative 
• Assistant Director of Education and Commissioning Children’s Well-Being Services – 
Herefordshire Council 

• Assistant Director of Safeguarding and Early Help, Children’s Well-Being Services – 
Herefordshire Council 

• Consultant in Public Health – Herefordshire Council 
• Family Health Service representative, Wye Valley Trust 
• CAMHS representative, 2Gether NHS Foundation Trust 
• Children’s Lead Healthwatch 
• Economic Partnership Development Group representative 
• Head of the Youth Offending Service 
• Third Sector representative 
• Attendees of the Partnership Steering Group 

 
Stakeholders in the Partnership have configured into two groups to progress business: 
 

• An Executive Group that defines the strategic agenda and priorities of the Partnership 
(informed by the agenda and priorities of the Health and Well-Being Board) 

• A Steering Group that defines and discharges the operational requirements of the 
partnership. 
 

71



 

  

CYP Plan Draft v 2.0    

Representatives of the Steering Group sit on the Executive Group; representatives of the Executive 
Group sit on the Health and Well-Being Board. In this way continuity and consistency of 
communication on strategic issues is assured. 
 
8.1.2. Structurally the Partnership operates within the context illustrated in Figure 1.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Members of the Partnership are represented on each of the related Boards and Partnerships. 
Minutes of the related Boards and Partnerships are shared with the CYPP. 
 
 
8.2. THE PARTNERSHIP’S ANNUAL BUSINESS PLAN  
 
8.2.1. An annual business plan will be developed by the Children and Young People’s Partnership to 
progress the planning priorities identified in this three year Plan.  The Business Plan will reflect the 
priority group structure embedded in this Plan, namely: 
 

• Developing an early  help approach and culture across the partnership to target resources and 
support vulnerable families 

• Improving outcomes in early years (0-5 years) 
• Improving the emotional and mental health and well-being of children, young people and their 
parents and carers 

• Improving outcomes for those requiring safeguarding 
• Addressing challenges for adolescents 
• Improving outcomes for children with a disability. 

72



 

  

CYP Plan Draft v 2.0    

 
8.2.2. The business plan priorities of the Partnership will be identified in an annual business plan that 
will be developed by the Partnership Steering Group and signed off by the Partnership Executive. In 
developing and progressing the business plan, the Steering Group will be supported by a number of 
task groups configured around the six priority needs identified above. In some instances these task 
groups are pre-existing bodies with a specific remit to progress the business area concerned ( e.g. 
the Early Years Partnership), for other areas the group may be virtual with a task and finish remit 
around the development and refresh of an annual business plan in the specific priority work area 
concerned.  The Executive will regularly review the progress against the business plan, receiving 
reports via the Steering Group. 
 
8.2.3 The business plan of the Partnership will be progressed through the Steering Group and 
associated work groups.  Specific transformation work will be supported through a project 
management approach, using the Children of Herefordshire Improvement and Partnership 
Programme (CHIPP). 
 
The Steering Group will be accountable for overseeing the progress in implementing the Plan and 
reporting to the Partnership Executive on this.  The members of the Steering Group will be assisted 
in this task by a support function. 
 
8.2.4 The support function to the Partnership has responsibility for: 

 
• co-ordinating the operational implementation of the Plan 
• communicating the content of the Plan to local communities and stakeholder groups 
• supporting the work of the Partnership in delivering and commissioning     services to meet 
the objectives of the Plan 

• evaluating the performance of the Partners on the delivery of this Plan through a performance 
management framework 

• developing and revising the Business Plan (annually) to meet the delivery objectives. 
 
 

8.3 COMMISSIONING ARRANGEMENTS 

 

8.3.1 Joint commissioning is a critical aspect to support the delivery of the Plan. Commissioning 
takes place across many different organisations and in many different ways.  Commissioning refers 
to understanding the needs of a population group, assessing what is currently in place to meet those 
needs, developing an approach to meet those needs more effectively, putting that approach in place 
and then reviewing its effectiveness. 
 
The Partnership will influence commissioning in Herefordshire by: 

 

• Enabling local commissioning (including commissioning by settings and schools) to 
understand what is available locally, what could be available and is best practice 

• Enabling local commissioning to join together to maximise the best use of resource to meet 
needs and reduce demand 

• A critical aspect of this is the work with adult and community services, as well as those 
commissioned in relation to children, young people and families 

 

73



 

  

CYP Plan Draft v 2.0    

8.3.2 The Council, including public health and the Herefordshire Clinical Commissioning Group, will 
use the Children and Young People’s Partnership Steering Group as the group to oversee joint 
commissioning activity between the two bodies.  This part of the steering group will be only for the 
commissioning agencies.  The specific focus of the work will support the business plans of the 
Partnership and at the time of writing will focus on: 
 

Children with disabilities 
 

• Integrated pathway moving from pre-birth to transition into adulthood.  The commissioning 
plan will focus on form following function once the pathway has been developed and should 
include CCG commissioned services as well as council services including the Autism pathway 

• Commissioning direct services (including respite fostering) to support children with disabilities 
in family settings rather than requiring residential care – also considering how direct payments 
and personalisation will impact on what we actually procure in future. Market development 
around choice, flexibility of provision, Complex Needs Solutions, equipment 

• Commissioning of post 19 opportunities to support young people in local education and 
training 

 
 
Emotional Well-Being and Mental Health 
 

• Pathway and commissioning plan, incorporating advice and guidance through from Tier 1 
onwards 

• Young carers, Carers, Advocacy, Children’s Voice 
• Address Tier 3+ gaps 

 

Safeguarding 
 

• A care placement strategy and fostering framework for looked after children  
 

Adolescent behaviour 
 

• Develop approach across the four Levels, particularly focusing on preventing offending and 
reoffending, commissioning opportunities that prevent NEET . 

 

Early Help 

 
• Development of family focused early intervention services including school nursing, direct 
work, integrated approach to language development.  

 

Early Years (0-5 years) 

 
• Development and commissioning of early years and community based services, including 
commissioning of children centre services alongside health visiting 

• Family nurse partnership procurement 
 

74



 

  

CYP Plan Draft v 2.0    

 
8.4  GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS 

 
The Children and Young People’s Partnership is part of the governance remit of the Herefordshire 
Health and Well-Being Board. The specific knowledge and expertise of the representatives of the 
Partnership enables them to focus on improving outcomes for children and young people in the 
County within the overall context of the Health and Well-Being Board’s principles and strategic 
priorities. 
 
The Children and Young People’s Plan reflects these strategic aspirations in each of the substantive 
planning needs it has identified. The Children and Young People’s Plan annual business plans will 
require the endorsement of the Health and Well-Being Board. The Health and Well-Being Board will 
oversee implementation of the Plan via feedback from the Children and Young People’s Partnership 
Executive on a quarterly basis and undertake an annual audit of the Plan’s progress on the 
anniversary of each business plan. 

 
8.5 LINKAGES WITH PARTNERSHIPS 

 
The Children and Young People’s Partnership has established important linkages with allied 
partnerships and boards which themselves have an important contribution to make to the successful 
implementation of the Children and Young People’s Plan. 

 
8.5.1 Herefordshire Safeguarding Children Board (HSCB) 

 
HSCB co-ordinates the safeguarding activities of its partner agencies and scrutinises and evaluates 
the effectiveness of what they do. The Board seeks to function strategically and will provide a lead to 
the Partnership on how the objectives of the Plan with respect to safeguarding are being progressed 
and delivered. The Independent Chair of the HSCB is a member of the Children and Young People’s 
Partnership Executive Group and will report on safeguarding issues through this meeting. 
Enhancements to the operational requirements for safeguarding, whether by securing improved 
performance or by the commissioning of service developments, will be led by the Children and Young 
People’s Partnership. A formal protocol agreement exists between the Partnership and the HSCB 
(see Appendix 1) 

 
8.5.2 Strategic Education Board 
 
The Strategic Education Board oversees the implementation of Herefordshire’s Education Strategy 
that focuses on improving the education experience and outcomes for children and young people in 
Herefordshire.  The Strategy focuses on the following key themes: 
 

• Leadership and Management  
• Progress and Achievement for all pupils 
• Achievement and Progress of pupils who are Looked After 
• Good and Outstanding Settings 
• Estates Strategy – High quality, sustainable schools and settings 
• Economic Development 

 
8.5.3 Community Safety Partnership 
 

75



 

  

CYP Plan Draft v 2.0    

The Community Safety Partnership co-ordinates community safety initiatives across key partner 
agencies and reports upon the effectiveness of their efforts. The Community Safety Partnership has 
responsibility for community safety issues as they effect children and young people, particularly with 
respect to anti-social behaviour, youth crime, the need for early help in vulnerable families and 
building community cohesion. The Chair of the Community Safety Partnership is a member of the 
Children and Young People’s Partnership Executive Group and will report on community safety 
issues related to the Children and Young people’s Plan through this meeting. Service enhancements 
relating to the community safety needs of children and young people will be considered and 
prioritised by the Partnership Executive Group prior to any reference to the commissioning function of 
the Partnership Steering Group.  

 
8.6  INFRASTRUCTURE ISSUES 

 
8.6.1 Business Process Enhancement 
At a number of points in the Plan there are proposals made for enhancing the business processes 
that are employed by the Partners to identify or respond to particular needs. These processes will 
need to be developed, enhanced and finessed throughout the life of the Plan. In the first instance the 
following issues will be addressed: 
 

• Processes for the assessment of children, young people and their families, including the 
future role of The Common Assessment Framework (CAF) 

• Reviewing the role of  Multi-Agency Groups (MAGs) in localities to co-ordinate the delivery of 
support and interventions to families 

• Scoping the role and remit of Lead Professionals and Key Workers in the co-ordination of 
support and interventions to families  
 

8.6.2 Performance Management and Review Arrangements 

 
The Herefordshire Children and Young People’s Partnership is committed to the principle of 
evaluating the performance of the Partners against the outcomes proposed with respect to the six 
strategic planning priorities. For each priority need a suite of performance measures will be agreed 
for use across the Partnership. In part, these will be pre-existing measures that are captured and 
required for statutory returns or for reporting on agency performance to regulators (e.g. DfE annual 
data return requirements, the Public Health Outcomes Framework). In other part, they will be 
measures specifically crafted to reflect the precise outcomes envisaged by this Plan. 
 
In the first instance the performance measures will be considered and evaluated by those with a 
legislative or operational responsibility for the relevant priority need area. These evaluations will be in 
the context of the CHIPP work programmes, pre-established performance management 
arrangements in areas of business as usual (e.g. HSCB performance data set) and established 
structures of Partner agencies outside of the Council. These evaluations should be brought together 
and an overall assessment made of the progress of the Plan to outcome for consideration by the 
Partnership Steering Group. The Steering Group may commission a quality audit into aspects of 
performance of the Plan where that delivery is out of line (positively or negatively).The Steering 
Group should provide an overall performance evaluation of the progress of the Plan for consideration 
at each meeting of the Partnership Executive, along with quality audit findings were these have wider 
and significant lessons for the Partnership. 

 
8.6.2 Evidence-Based Practice 

 

76



 

  

CYP Plan Draft v 2.0    

Throughout the Plan reference is made of the need to identify, appraise, test and implement 
evidence-based practices and programmes to meet the outcome objectives required. Numerous 
review reports are available on the priority need areas of this Plan, so that the evidence of the 
efficacy of a number of promising approaches can be ascertained. These include: 

 
• Early Years  

- NICE (2015) Rapid Review to Update Evidence for the Healthy Child Programme 0-5 
- https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/409772/1

5030SRapidHealthyChildProg.FINAL_5_2015.pdf 
 

• Early Help 
- Parenting Programmes (Public Health England, UCL Health Equity 2014), 

http://www.instituteofhealthequiy.org/projects/good-quality-parenting-programmes-and-
thehome-to-school-transition  

- Improving the Public’s Health: A resource for local authorities 
- Kings Fund (2013)  

http;//www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/files/field_publication_file/improving-the-publics-
health-kingsfund-dec13.pdf  

 
• Managing challenges to young people’s social inclusion 

- Reducing antisocial behaviour and conduct disorders in young people (NICE 2013) 
Http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg158  

- School based interventions to prevent smoking (NICE 2010) 
http//www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph23  

- Interventions to reduce substance misuse in vulnerable young people (NICE 2007) 
- http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph4 
- Reducing the number of young people who are NEET (Public Health England, UCL 
Health Equity 2014) 

- http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/projects/reducing-the-number-of-young-people-
not-in-employment-education-or-training-neet 

 
The Partnership will develop a process whereby it may identify, appraise and test programmes and 
approaches to priority need areas promoted in this Plan. This process should be linked into the 
annual business plans of the discrete need areas of the Plan, thereby facilitating delivery of those 
aspects of the Plan. This process will need to link in with those with responsibilities for business 
management, commissioning, workforce development and performance monitoring. 

 
8.7  WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT 

 
8.7.1 Key to the successful delivery of this Plan is the availability of a workforce that has the 
capability and capacity to deliver on its objectives. The Partnership has endorsed a children’s 
workforce strategy which will incrementally address the requirement of each of the core components 
of this Plan. The vision of the strategy is to have a safe and competent workforce available to 
effectively meet the aspirations of children, young people and their families. The objective of the 
strategy is to assist in creating the environment where the right people with the right skills are 
available to support children and young people and families at key points in their lives. 

 

The workforce strategy is intended to apply to all stakeholder employers within the Partnership (i.e. 
not only Council commissioners and staff) and engage all relevant employees, contractors, suppliers 
and volunteers.  

77



 

  

CYP Plan Draft v 2.0    

The strategy has four underpinning objectives: 

• Assistance to help make people make Herefordshire their home and a place where they want 
to invest in a career. 

• Values-based recruitment and retention of the workforce with an appropriate reward and 
career development offer 

• Implementation of effective, relevant learning and development plans by the Partnership 
which supports improvement, change and innovation 

• Leadership, management and supervision of the children’s workforce by inspiring, innovative 
and collaborative people skilled in systems thinking. 

 
8.7.2 The strategy will be progressed by the Partnership via an annual workforce development plan 
which will identify the priority issues and outcomes that will need to be attained by the workforce to 
achieve the aspirations of the Children and Young People’s Plan. The strategy will seek to build a 
workforce that is: 

 
• Passionate about outcomes for children, families and communities, why they matter and what 
part they play 

• Engaging of all those whose role impacts on the lives of children 
• Committed to the lessons of Families First ,using a suite of evidence-based interventions 
acknowledged across the workforce 

• Outcomes focused, enabling and promoting well-being 
• Integrated, collaborative and innovative 
• Skilled in direct work with children, young people and their families and able to constructively 
challenge them when required 

• Committed to self-improvement (supported by CPD) so that they are able to achieve the 
outcomes for children and families that they are responsible for. 

 
The strategy needs to ensure that the Partnership has access to an effective workforce so that 
capacity may rapidly be built in the families and communities of Herefordshire in such a way that they 
are ready-made assets to draw on in maintaining and strengthening public health and well-being. 

 
8.8 COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT 

 
8.8.1 The Herefordshire Partnership is committed to ensuring that the implementation of this Plan 
has high visibility across the communities comprising the County. This reflects the priority of the 
Health and Well-Being Board to reduce inequalities and reach into local communities. To this end a 
communication strategy will be developed to ensure that the key messages of this Plan are known to 
children, young people and families in discrete communities.  

 
For this purpose, the communications strategy will focus on eight natural community clusters: 

• Hereford City North 
• Hereford City South 
• Golden Valley (Peterchurch and Kingstone) 
• Ross-on-Wye 
• Ledbury 
• Bromyard 
• Leominster and Mortimer 
• Weobley and Kington 

 

78



 

  

CYP Plan Draft v 2.0    

The communications strategy will focus on the discrete service clusters of those areas which are 
most effective and influential in engaging with the children, young people and their families prioritised 
in this Plan. The Partnership will seek to maximise the use of information technology to engage its 
target audiences with the content of the Plan, its implementation and their reflections on its delivery 
and how this can be enhanced. 

 
8.8.2 With respect to specific communication of the Plan and its engagement with children and young 
people, the Partnership will be liaising with the Voice of the Child Co-ordination Service (The 
Participation People) to ensure that there is an on-going dialogue with these stakeholders on the 
objectives of the Plan, the local priorities for managing demand, the shape of local delivery and its 
impact on performance and outcomes. 
 
The Voice of a Child Network will capture the views of children, young people and families through a 
variety of methods. These views will feed into strategy, policy and budgeting decisions. These 
methods will include: 

• County- wide Voice of the Child audit 
• Youth opinion sheets 
• Selfie pledges 
• Voice of the Child e-bulletins 
• Cartoon storyboards 
• Case studies 
• Social media 
• Surveys 
• Events 
• Focus groups 
• Pre and Post skills analysis questionnaires 
 

There will be a dedicated page on Herefordshire’s website that will capture what children, young 
people and families are saying. But more importantly, we will highlight what has been done as a 
result of their views and voices.  

79



 

  

CYP Plan Draft v 2.0    

 

APPENDIX 1: 

 
Protocol agreement between Herefordshire 
Children and Young People’s Partnership 
Forum and Herefordshire Safeguarding 
Children Board 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

80



 

  

CYP Plan Draft v 2.0    

Protocol agreement between Herefordshire Children and 
Young People’s Partnership and Herefordshire Safeguarding 
Children Board  
 

Introduction 
 
Herefordshire Children and Young People’s Partnership consists of the sum total of co-operative 
arrangements and partnerships between organisations with a role in improving outcomes for children 
and young people.   
 
The Herefordshire Safeguarding Children Board (HSCB) is a statutory body and has its own terms of 
reference or constitution that establishes its functions, membership and operating procedures. It is 
accountable to the Director of Children’s Services and Cabinet. 
 
The Children and Young People’s Partnership is not a statutory body. Governance and accountability 
between the Herefordshire Health and Wellbeing Board, the partnership and HSCB have been 
confirmed as part of the Health and Wellbeing Board governance.   
 
This protocol is an agreement which sets out the working arrangements between the HSCB and the 
Children and Young People’s Partnership and provides clarity over functions, roles and 
responsibilities of each 
 
Herefordshire Children and Young People’s Partnership  

Herefordshire’s Children and Young People’s Partnership provides interagency governance of the 
cooperation arrangements as a whole.  It promotes strong joint planning and effective commissioning 
of services. It is responsible for developing and promoting a child and family-centred, outcome-led 
vision for all children and young people in Herefordshire via the Children and Young People’s Plan. 
This plan identifies the priorities for children and young people, clearly informed by their views and 
those of their parents/carers and a comprehensive needs analysis.  Herefordshire Children and 
Young People’s Partnership monitors performance on its priorities at a high level and is responsible 
for putting in place robust arrangements for inter-agency governance to deliver improvements 
identified in the Yes We Can plan and subsequent plans. 
 
The Children and Young People’s Partnership will:  
 

• Consult the Herefordshire Safeguarding Children Board (HSCB) on issues, which affect how 
children are safeguarded and their welfare promoted. 

 

• Act upon recommendations and identified areas for improvement to safeguard children and 
young people made by the HSCB, ensure that specific activity is taking place, and report back 
to the HSCB on subsequent progress  
 

• Ensure the HSCB is formally consulted during the development of the Children and Young 
People's Plan  

 

• Invite the Chair of the HSCB to attend the Children and Young People’s Partnership 
Executive meetings as a member of the Children and Young People’s Partnership  

 
• Ensure that messages and information provided by the HSCB are appropriately disseminated 
within Partnership member organisations  

81



 

  

CYP Plan Draft v 2.0    

 
• Expect from the HSCB: 

 
o An annual review on HSCB activities and performance (within the statutory annual 
report) 

o A quarterly update on the Business Plan from the Independent Chair of the HSCB 
o Quarterly meetings between the Independent Chair (HSCB), Children and Young 
People’s Partnership Executive Chair, Director for children’s Wellbeing and Lead 
Member for Children 

 
• Take an overview of the HSCB’s activities as part of its monitoring arrangements, as the work 
of the HSCB falls within the framework of the Yes We Can Plan and subsequent plans.  

 

 
Herefordshire Safeguarding Children Board  
 
The role of HSCB is to co-ordinate the safeguarding activities of its partner agencies and to evaluate 
and scrutinise the effectiveness of what they do. Its functions are strategic and not operational. 
However it would expect to initiate activities which investigate and improve practice in safeguarding. 
It has the authority to call any agency represented on the partnership to account for its safeguarding 
activity.  
 
HSCB and its activities are part of the wider context of Children and Young People’s Partnership 
arrangements in Herefordshire. HSCB contributes to the wider goals of improving the well being of all 
children whilst being primarily focused on ensuring robust safeguarding arrangements for all children 
and young people in Herefordshire.  Within the wider governance arrangements its role is to ensure 
the effectiveness of the arrangements made by individual agencies and the wider partnership to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of children.  
 
The HSCB will: 
  

• Take responsibility for monitoring actions to improve safeguarding, including action plans 
arising from Serious Case Reviews feeding back learning and undertaking audits to ensure 
that lessons have been learned.  

 

• Feed back results from the above activities  to the Partnership, advising on ways to improve 
and highlight areas of underperformance  

 

• Ensure through regular evaluation that partner agencies comply with the duty to discharge 
their functions having regard to the need to safeguard and promote the welfare of children 
(Children Act 2004, s.11).  

 

• Hold the Children and Young People’s Partnership to account on matters of safeguarding in 
all its activities, providing appropriate challenge on performance and results of performance 
indicators  

 

• Initiate the development, regular review and active dissemination to all partner agencies of 
good practice Protocols to inform and assist multi-agency working 

 

• Highlight gaps in service for the Children and Young People’s Partnership to consider as part 
of its commissioning process work and propose solutions. 

 

• Provide quarterly formal reports on its findings from its scrutiny activity to the Children and 
Young People’s Partnership, including the annual report.  

 

• Invite the Lead Member to attend the HSCB as a participant observer  

82



 

  

CYP Plan Draft v 2.0    

 
Both organisations will  
 

• Have an ongoing and direct relationship, communicating regularly  
 

• Work together to ensure action taken by one body does not duplicate that taken by another  
 

• Ensure they are committed to working together to ensure there are no unhelpful strategic or 
operational gaps in policies, protocols, services or practice.  

 

Date of agreement: 2 February 2015 CYPP Executive  

Review: October 2015 

 

 

83



84



Further information on the subject of this Report is available from
David Penrose

 

MEETING: 
 

MEETING DATE: 
 

TITLE OF REPORT: 

REPORT BY: 
 

1. Classification  
 Open 

2. Key Decision  

 This is not an executive decision 

3. Wards Affected

 County-wide  

4. Purpose 
4.1 To consider the Committee’s work programme.

5. Recommendation

 THAT:  The work programme as appended be
the Committee wished to make.

6. Alternative Options
It is for the Committee to determine its work programme as it sees fit to reflect the 
priorities facing Herefordshire.  Any number of subjects could be included in the 
work programme.  However, the Committee does need to be selective and ensure 
that the work programme is focused on the key issues, realistic and deliverable 
within the existing resources available

7. Reasons for Recommendations
7.1 The Committee needs 

scrutiny is focused, effective and produces clear outcomes.

8. Key Considerations
8.1 The Committee is asked to note its work programme and to note progress on 

current work. 

9. Community Impact
9.1 The topics selected for scrutiny should have regard to what matters to the County’s 

residents. 

Further information on the subject of this Report is available from 
David Penrose, Democratic Services Officers, on Tel (01432) 383690

 

HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE OVERVIEW & 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

22 JULY 2015 

COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME

GOVERNANCE SERVICES MANAGER

 

This is not an executive decision  

Wards Affected 

To consider the Committee’s work programme. 

Recommendation 
THAT:  The work programme as appended be noted, subject to any comments 
the Committee wished to make. 

Alternative Options 
It is for the Committee to determine its work programme as it sees fit to reflect the 
priorities facing Herefordshire.  Any number of subjects could be included in the 
work programme.  However, the Committee does need to be selective and ensure 
that the work programme is focused on the key issues, realistic and deliverable 
within the existing resources available. 

Reasons for Recommendations 
The Committee needs to develop a manageable work programme to ensure that 
scrutiny is focused, effective and produces clear outcomes. 

Key Considerations 
The Committee is asked to note its work programme and to note progress on 

Community Impact 
The topics selected for scrutiny should have regard to what matters to the County’s 

 
383690 

OVERVIEW & 

COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 

SERVICES MANAGER 

noted, subject to any comments 

It is for the Committee to determine its work programme as it sees fit to reflect the 
priorities facing Herefordshire.  Any number of subjects could be included in the 
work programme.  However, the Committee does need to be selective and ensure 
that the work programme is focused on the key issues, realistic and deliverable 

to develop a manageable work programme to ensure that 

The Committee is asked to note its work programme and to note progress on 

The topics selected for scrutiny should have regard to what matters to the County’s 

AGENDA ITEM 11

85



Further information on the subject of this Report is available from 
David Penrose, Democratic Services Officers, on Tel (01432) 383690 

 

 

  

10. Equality and Human Rights 
10.1 The topics selected need to have regard for equality and Human rights issues. 

11. Financial Implications 
11.1 The cost of the work of the Scrutiny Committee will have to be met within existing 

resources.  It should be noted the costs of running scrutiny will be subject to an 
assessment to support appropriate processes. 

12. Legal Implications 
12.1 The Council is required to deliver an Overview and Scrutiny function. 

13. Risk Management 
13.1 There is a reputational risk to the Council if the Overview & Scrutiny function does 

not operate effectively.   The arrangements for the development of the work 
programme should help mitigate this risk. 

14. Consultees 
14.1 Following initial consultations on topics for scrutiny with Directors and Members of 

the Cabinet, all members of the Council were invited to suggest items for scrutiny. 

15. Appendices 
15.1 Appendix 1 - An outline work programme for the Committee. 

Appendix 2 – Forward Plan 

Appendix 3 – Task and Finish Group Topic Selection Criteria 

16. Background Papers 
16.1 None identified. 

86



Appendix 1 

 

HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  
ITEMS IDENTIFIED FOR INCLUSION IN THE WORK PROGRAMME 

Draft Work Programme 
 
 

22 September at 10am 

Stroke Pathway To receive a progress report on the Stroke Pathway 

Urgent Care Pathway To receive a progress report on the Urgent Care Pathway 

Children’s Safeguarding 
Performance Data 

To examine and challenge the performance data on 
children’s safeguarding. 

Healthwatch update To receive  a verbal report on any issues of concern 

Work Programme To consider the Committees Work Programme 

17 November at 10am 

Joint meeting with General Overview and Scrutiny to discuss the Council Budget for 2016/17  

29 January at 2pm 

Wye Valley NHS Trust To receive an update on the performance of the Wye Valley 
NHS Trust following the CQC report 

Healthwatch update To receive  a verbal report on any issues of concern 

Work Programme To consider the Committees Work Programme 

21 March at 2pm 

Accountability Session To hold a public accountability session for organisations 
within the health sector.  This session shall focus on Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Board and Healthwatch 
Herefordshire. 

Children’s Safeguarding 
Performance Data 

To examine and challenge the performance data on 
children’s safeguarding. 

Healthwatch update To receive  a verbal report on any issues of concern 

Work Programme To consider the Committees Work Programme 

May at 2pm 

Accountability Session  To hold a public accountability session for organisations 
within the health sector.  This session shall focus on 
Herefordshire Clinical Commissioning Group and Arden, 
Herefordshire and Worcestershire Area Team 

Healthwatch update To receive  a verbal report on any issues of concern 

Work Programme To consider the Committees Work Programme 
 
The following issues are suggestions from the public for inclusion 
 

The impact of housing developments in Herefordshire on Hereford hospital and other social 
services 

 
 
The following matters shall be dealt with via briefing notes 
 

• Changes to the scrutiny arrangements of Herefordshire Council including risks, mitigation 
and proposed changes 

• An update on the use of mobile devices by social workers 
• 2gether NHS Foundation Trust headlines for Key Performance Indicators 

87



88



 
 

 
 

 
 

A
p
p
en

d
ix
 2
 

D
ec
is
io

n
 D
at
e 

M
o
n
th
 

D
ec
is
io
n
 

M
ak
er
 

D
ir
ec
to
ra
te
  

P
o
rt
fo
lio

 
H
o
ld
er
 

C
o
u
n
ci
llo

r 
/ O

ff
ic
er
 

N
am

e 

Is
su

e 
T
yp

e 
R
ep

o
rt
 T
it
le
 

D
es
cr
ip
ti
o
n
  

R
ep

o
rt
 W

ri
te
r 
 

21
-J
ul
-

15
 

Ju
ly
 

C
ab
in
et
 

M
em

be
r 

In
fr
as
tr
uc
tu
re
 

E
co
no
m
y,
 

C
om

m
un
iti
es
 

&
 C
or
po
ra
te
  

E
co
no
m
y,
 

C
om

m
un
iti
es
 

&
 C
or
po
ra
te
  

P
ric
e,
 P
hi
lip
 
N
on
 K
ey
 

R
es
p
o
n
se
 t
o
 T
as
k 

&
 F
in
is
h
 G
ro
u
p
 o
n
 

D
ev

el
o
p
m
en

t 
M
an

ag
em

en
t 

(P
la
n
n
in
g
) 

T
o 
co
ns
id
er
 w
hi
ch
 

re
co
m
m
en
da
tio
ns
 c
an
 b
e 

ap
pr
ov
ed
 fr
om

 th
e 
G
O
S
C
 

W
ill
im

on
t, 
M
ar
c 

21
-J
ul
-

15
 

Ju
ne

 

C
ab

in
et
 

M
em

be
r 

H
ea

lth
 &
 

W
el
lb
ei
ng

  

A
du

lts
 &
 

W
el
lb
ei
ng

 

C
ab

in
et
 

M
em

be
r 

H
ea

lth
 &
 

W
el
lb
ei
ng

  

M
or
ga

n,
 

P
at
ric

ia
 

K
ey

 
L
ea
rn
in
g
 D
is
ab

ili
ty
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y 
H
ea

lt
h
 

S
er
vi
ce

 

T
o 
ap

pr
ov

e 
th
e 
ch

an
ge

 in
 

co
nt
ra
ct
ua

l a
rr
an

ge
m
en

ts
 fo

r 
th
e 

co
un

ci
l’s
 fu

nd
in
g 
of
 th

is
 s
er
vi
ce

 
pr
ov

id
ed

 b
y 
2g

et
he

r 
N
H
S
 

F
ou

nd
at
io
n 
T
ru
st
. 

N
ic
k 
G
rif
fit
hs

 

23
-J
ul
-

15
 

Ju
ly
 

C
ab

in
et
 

C
or
po

ra
te
 

S
tr
at
eg

y 
&
 

F
in
an

ce
 

E
co

no
m
y,
 

C
om

m
un

iti
es

 
&
 C

or
po

ra
te
 

Jo
hn

so
n,
 

A
nt
ho

ny
 

N
on

 K
ey

 
M
ay
 b
u
d
g
et
 

m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 r
ep

o
rt
 

T
o 
re
po

rt
 th

e 
fin

an
ci
al
 p
os

iti
on

 o
f 

th
e 
C
ou

nc
il 
fo
r 
bo

th
 r
ev

en
ue

 a
nd

 
ca

pi
ta
l 

R
ob

in
so

n,
 P
et
er
 

23
-J
ul
-

15
 

Ju
ly
 

C
ab

in
et
 

E
co

no
m
y 
&
 

C
or
po

ra
te
 

S
er
vi
ce

s 

E
co

no
m
y,
 

C
om

m
un

iti
es

 
&
 C

or
po

ra
te
 

P
ow

el
l, 

G
ra
ha

m
 

N
on

 K
ey

 
M
ay
 c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 

p
er
fo
rm

an
ce

 r
ep

o
rt
 

T
o 
re
vi
ew

 p
er
fo
rm

an
ce

 
B
al
l, 
R
ic
ha

rd
 

23
-J
ul
-

15
 

Ju
ly
 

C
ab

in
et
 

H
ea

lth
 &
 

W
el
lb
ei
ng

 

C
ab

in
et
 

M
em

be
r 

H
ea

lth
 &
 

W
el
lb
ei
ng

  

  
N
on

 K
ey

 

U
n
d
er
st
an

d
in
g
 

H
er
ef
o
rd
sh

ir
e'
 -
 t
h
e 

Jo
in
t 
S
tr
at
eg

ic
 

N
ee
d
s 
A
ss

es
sm

en
t 

an
d
  

H
er
ef
o
rd
sh

ir
e 

H
ea
lt
h
 &
 W

el
lb
ei
n
g
 

S
tr
at
eg

y 

T
o 
no

te
 a
nd

 u
se

 th
e 
Jo

in
t 

S
tr
at
eg

ic
 N

ee
ds

 A
ss

es
sm

en
t f
or
 

H
er
ef
or
ds

hi
re
 a
s 
th
e 
ov

er
ar
ch

in
g 

pr
im

ar
y 
ev

id
en

ce
 b
as

e 
fo
r 
th
e 

H
ea

lth
 a
nd

 W
el
lb
ei
ng

 b
oa

rd
, a

nd
 

ot
he

r 
ke

y 
pa

rt
ne

rs
hi
ps

,  
to
 

de
te
rm

in
e 
ke

y 
lo
ca

l p
rio

rit
ie
s.
 

U
nd

er
st
an

di
ng

 H
er
ef
or
ds

hi
re
 w
ill
 

be
 a
 s
ha

re
d 
re
so

ur
ce

 fo
r 

co
m
m
is
si
on

er
s 
an

d 
ot
he

r 
de

ci
si
on

 
m
ak

er
s,
 s
uc

h 
as

 th
e 
cl
in
ic
al
 

co
m
m
is
si
on

in
g 
gr
ou

p,
 th

e 
lo
ca

l 
au

th
or
ity
 a
nd

 k
ey

 p
la
ye

rs
 in

 th
e 

LA
 a
re
a 
(c
om

m
un

ity
 o
rg
an

is
at
io
ns

 
an

d 
se

rv
ic
e 
pr
ov

id
er
s)
.  
 

T
o 
no

te
 th

e 
H
er
ef
or
ds

hi
re
 H

ea
lth

 
&
 W

el
lb
ei
ng

 S
tr
at
eg

y 
ap

pr
ov

ed
 b
y 

th
e 
H
ea

lth
 &
 W

el
lb
ei
ng

 B
oa

rd
 

U
nn

y,
 L
at
ha

 / 
H
el
un

 S
an

di
fo
rt
 

R
ob

in
s,
 J
o 

23
-J
ul
-

15
 

Ju
ly
 

Y
ou

ng
 

P
eo

pl
e 
&
 

C
hi
ld
re
n'
s 

W
el
lb
ei
ng

 

C
hi
ld
re
n'
s 

Y
ou

ng
 

P
eo

pl
e 
&
 

C
hi
ld
re
n'
s 

W
el
lb
ei
ng

 

Le
st
er
, 

Jo
na

th
an

 
N
on

-
K
ey

  

D
ev

el
o
p
m
en

t 
o
f 

S
ch

o
o
ls
 C
ap

it
al
 

In
ve

st
m
en

t 
S
tr
at
eg

y 

T
o 
co

m
m
en

t o
n 
th
e 
pr
oc

es
s 
fo
r 

th
e 
sc

ho
ol
s 
ca

pi
ta
l i
nv

es
tm

en
t 

st
ra
te
gy

 
H
ou

gh
, A

nd
y 

89



23
-J
ul
-

15
 

Ju
ne

 

C
ab

in
et
 

M
em

be
r 

C
on

tr
ac

ts
 &
 

A
ss

et
s 

E
co

no
m
y,
 

C
om

m
un

iti
es

 
&
 C
or
po

ra
te
  

C
on

tr
ac

ts
 &
 

A
ss

et
s 

B
ra
m
er
, 

H
ar
ry
 

N
on

 K
ey

 

A
p
p
ro
va

l o
f 

su
p
p
o
rt
 f
o
r 

C
o
u
rt
ya
rd
 C
en

tr
e 

fo
r 
th
e 
A
rt
s 
C
ap

it
al
 

D
ev

el
o
p
m
en

t 
S
ch

em
e 

T
o 
gi
ve

 a
pp

ro
va

l o
f C

ou
nc

il 
su

pp
or
t f
or
 C
ou

rt
ya

rd
 C
en

tr
e 
of
 

th
e 
A
rt
s 
C
ap

ita
l D

ev
el
op

m
en

t 
S
ch

em
e 

Li
ge

m
a,
 M

ic
k 

28
-J
ul
-

15
 

Ju
ly
 

C
ab

in
et
 

M
em

be
r 

H
ea

lth
 &
 

W
el
lb
ei
ng

  

A
du

lts
 &
 

W
el
lb
ei
ng

 

C
ab

in
et
 

M
em

be
r 

H
ea

lth
 &
 

W
el
lb
ei
ng

  

M
or
ga

n,
 

P
at
ric

ia
 

K
ey

 
R
o
se
 G
ar
d
en

 -
 

E
xt
ra
 C
ar
e 
F
u
tu
re
 

p
ro
vi
si
o
n
 

A
w
ar
d 
of
 th

e 
ex

tr
a 
ca

re
 c
on

tr
ac

t 
at
 R
os

e 
G
ar
de

ns
, f
ol
lo
w
in
g 
th
e 

pr
oc

ur
em

en
t o

f a
 r
em

od
el
ed

 
se

rv
ic
e 
vi
a 
a 
co

m
pe

tit
iv
e 
te
nd

er
 

pr
oc

es
s 

Ll
oy

d,
 L
au

ra
 

29
-J
ul
-

15
 

Ju
ly
 

C
ab

in
et
 

M
em

be
r 

H
ea

lth
 &
 

W
el
lb
ei
ng

  

A
du

lts
 &
 

W
el
lb
ei
ng

 

C
ab

in
et
 

M
em

be
r 

H
ea

lth
 &
 

W
el
lb
ei
ng

  

M
or
ga

n,
 

P
at
ric

ia
 

N
on

 k
ey

 

H
er
ef
o
rd
sh

ir
e 

M
ar
ke
t 
P
o
si
ti
o
n
 

S
ta
te
m
en

t 
fo
r 
A
d
u
lt
 

W
el
lb
ei
n
g
 2
01

5/
16

 

T
o 
ge

t c
ab

in
et
 m

em
be

r 
ag

re
em

en
t f
or
 th

e 
re
vi
se

d 
M
ar
ke

t 
P
os

iti
on

 S
ta
te
m
en

t  
T
yl
er
 L
au

ra
  

30
-J
ul
-

15
 

Ju
ly
 

A
ss

is
ta
nt
 

D
ire

ct
or
 

P
la
ce

 B
as

ed
 

C
om

m
is
si
on

i
ng

 

E
co

no
m
y,
 

C
om

m
un

iti
es

 &
 

C
or
po

ra
te
  

E
co

no
m
y,
 

C
om

m
un

iti
es

 &
 

C
or
po

ra
te
  

S
ue

 W
hi
te
, 

B
B
LP

 

N
on

 k
ey

 

P
ro
p
o
se
d
 P
u
b
lic

 
P
at
h
 D
iv
er
si
o
n
 

O
rd
er
 F
o
o
tp
at
h
 

L
R
10
 (
p
ar
t)
 in

 t
h
e 

P
ar
is
h
 o
f 
L
ed

b
u
ry
  

T
o 
co

ns
id
er
 a
n 
ap

pl
ic
at
io
n 

un
de

r 
th
e 
H
ig
hw

ay
s 
A
ct
 1
98

0,
 

se
ct
io
n 
11

9,
 to

 m
ak

e 
a 
pu

bl
ic
 

pa
th
 d
iv
er
si
on

 o
rd
er
 to

 d
iv
er
t 

pa
rt
 o
f f
oo

tp
at
h 
LR

10
 in

 th
e 

pa
ris

h 
of
 L
ed

bu
ry
 

S
ue

 W
hi
te
, B

B
LP

 

30
-J
ul
-

15
 

Ju
ly
 

A
ss

is
ta
nt
 

D
ire

ct
or
 

P
la
ce

 B
as

ed
 

C
om

m
is
si
on

i
ng

 

E
co

no
m
y,
 

C
om

m
un

iti
es

 &
 

C
or
po

ra
te
  

E
co

no
m
y,
 

C
om

m
un

iti
es

 &
 

C
or
po

ra
te
  

S
ue

 W
hi
te
, 

B
B
LP

 

N
on

 k
ey

 

hi
gh

w
ay

s 
ac

t 1
98

0,
 

se
ct
io
n 
11

9.
 

pr
op

os
ed

 p
ub

lic
 

pa
th
 d
iv
er
si
on

 
or
de

r 
fo
ot
pa

th
 

M
A
18

  (
pa

rt
) 
an

d 
M
A
23

 (
pa

rt
) 
in
 th

e 
pa

ris
h 
of
 m

at
ho

n 

T
o 
co

ns
id
er
 a
n 
ap

pl
ic
at
io
n 

un
de

r 
th
e 
H
ig
hw

ay
s 
A
ct
 1
98

0,
 

se
ct
io
n 
11

9,
 to

 m
ak

e 
a 
pu

bl
ic
 

pa
th
 d
iv
er
si
on

 o
rd
er
 to

 d
iv
er
t 

pa
rt
 o
f f
oo

tp
at
h 
M
A
18

 (
pa

rt
) 

an
d 
M
A
23

 (
pa

rt
) 
in
 th

e 
pa

ris
h 

of
 M

at
ho

n 
w
ith

 a
ss

oc
ia
te
d 

cr
ea

tio
n 
or
de

rs
 

S
ue

 W
hi
te
, B

B
LP

 

31
-J
ul
-

15
 

Ju
ly
 

C
ab

in
et
 

M
em

be
r 

H
ea

lth
 &
 

W
el
lb
ei
ng

 

A
du

lts
 &
 

W
el
lb
ei
ng

 

C
ab

in
et
 

M
em

be
r 

H
ea

lth
 &
 

W
el
lb
ei
ng

  

M
or
ga

n,
 

P
at
ric

ia
 

K
ey

 
R
e-
p
ro
cu

re
m
en

t 
o
f 

le
ar
n
in
g
 d
is
ab

ili
ty
 

se
rv
ic
es

 

A
w
ar
d 
of
 th

e 
ca

re
 a
nd

 s
up

po
rt
 

co
nt
ra
ct
(s
) 
fo
r 
le
ar
ni
ng

 d
is
ab

ili
ty
 

se
rv
ic
es

, f
ol
lo
w
in
g 
th
e 

pr
oc

ur
em

en
t o

f a
 r
em

od
el
ed

 
se

rv
ic
e 
vi
a 
a 
co

m
pe

tit
iv
e 
te
nd

er
 

pr
oc

es
s 

Ll
oy

d,
 L
au

ra
 

31
-J
ul
-

15
 

Ju
ly
 

C
ab

in
et
 

M
em

be
r 

H
ea

lth
 &
 

W
el
lb
ei
ng

 

A
du

lts
 &
 

W
el
lb
ei
ng

 

C
ab

in
et
 

M
em

be
r 

H
ea

lth
 &
 

W
el
lb
ei
ng

  

M
or
ga

n,
 

P
at
ric

ia
 

 K
ey

 

C
ar
e 
an

d
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 

co
n
tr
ac
t 
ex

te
n
si
o
n
 

fo
r 
le
ar
n
in
g
 

d
is
ab

ili
ty
 s
er
vi
ce
s 
 

A
pp

ro
ve

 a
 w

ai
ve

r 
to
 th

e 
31

st
 

M
ac

h 
20

16
 w

ith
 th

e 
cu

rr
en

t 
pr
ov

id
e 
M
id
la
nd

 H
ea

rt
 fo

r 
th
e 
ca

re
 

an
d 
su

pp
or
t c

on
tr
ac

t, 
le
ar
ni
ng

 
di
sa

bl
bi
lit
y 
se

rv
ic
es

 

Ll
oy

d,
 L
au

ra
 

31
-J
ul
-

15
 

Ju
ly
 

O
ffi
ce

r 
A
du

lts
 &
 

W
el
lb
ei
ng

 
H
ea

lth
 &
 

W
el
lb
ei
ng

 
C
oo

m
be

s,
 

H
el
en

 
N
on

 K
ey

 

T
o
 f
o
rm

al
is
e 

cu
rr
en

t 
si
tu
at
io
n
 

w
it
h
 O
ld
er
 p
er
so

n
 

D
ay
 a
ct
iv
it
y 

T
o 
fo
rm

al
is
e 
ex

is
iti
ng

 c
on

tr
ac

t 
ex

te
ns

io
n 
un

til
 3
1 
M
ar
ch

 2
01

6 
S
av

ek
er
, G

ra
ha

m
 

90



p
ro
vi
d
er
s 
 (
o
u
t 
o
f 

co
n
tr
ac
t)
 

31
-J
ul
-

15
 

Ju
ly
 

O
ffi
ce

r 
A
du

lts
 &
 

W
el
lb
ei
ng

 
H
ea

lth
 &
 

W
el
lb
ei
ng

 
C
oo

m
be

s,
 

H
el
en

 
N
on

 K
ey

 

T
o
 f
o
rm

al
is
e 

cu
rr
en

t 
si
tu
at
io
n
 

w
it
h
 L
ea
rn
in
g
 

D
is
ab

ili
ty
 D
ay

 
ac
ti
vi
ty
 p
ro
vi
d
er
s 

(o
u
t 
o
f 
co

n
tr
ac
t)
 

T
o 
fo
rm

al
is
e 
ex

is
iti
ng

 c
on

tr
ac

t 
ex

te
ns

io
n 
un

til
 3
1 
M
ar
ch

 2
01

6 
S
av

ek
er
, G

ra
ha

m
 

31
-J
ul
-

15
 

Ju
ly
 

O
ffi
ce

r 
A
du

lts
 &
 

W
el
lb
ei
ng

 
H
ea

lth
 &
 

W
el
lb
ei
ng

 

C
oo

m
be

s,
 

H
el
en

 

N
on

 K
ey

 

T
o
 f
o
rm

al
is
e 

cu
rr
en

t 
si
tu
at
io
n
 

w
it
h
 R
es
id
en

ti
al
 

S
ch

em
e 
L
iv
ab

ili
ty
 

p
ro
vi
d
er
 (
W
al
l 

S
tr
ee
t)
 (
n
o
t 

in
co

n
tr
ac
t)
 

T
o 
fo
rm

al
is
e 
ex

is
iti
ng

 c
on

tr
ac

t 
ex

te
ns

io
n 
un

til
 3
1 
M
ar
ch

 2
01

6 
S
av

ek
er
, G

ra
ha

m
 

05
-A
ug
-

15
 

A
ug
us
t 

C
ab
in
et
 

M
em

be
r 

C
on
tr
ac
ts
 &
 

A
ss
et
s 

E
co
no
m
y,
 

C
om

m
un
iti
es
 

&
 C
or
po
ra
te
  

E
co
no
m
y,
 

C
om

m
un
iti
es
 

&
 C
or
po
ra
te
  

B
ra
m
er
, 

H
ar
ry
 

K
ey
 

D
is
p
o
sa
l o

f 
H
er
ef
o
rd
 B
u
tt
er
 

M
ar
ke
t 

T
o 
se
ek
 a
pp
ro
va
l f
or
 th
e 
di
sp
os
al
 

of
 H
er
ef
or
d 
B
ut
te
r 
M
ar
ke
t 

F
ea
th
er
st
on
e,
 

T
on
y 

19
-A

ug
-

15
 

A
ug

us
t 

C
ab

in
et
 

M
em

be
r 

In
fr
as

tr
uc

tu
re
 

E
co

no
m
y,
 

C
om

m
un

iti
es

 
&
 C
or
po

ra
te
  

E
co

no
m
y,
 

C
om

m
un

iti
es

 
&
 C

or
po

ra
te
  

P
ric

e,
 P
hi
lip

 
N
on

 K
ey

 

O
p
ti
o
n
 A
p
p
ra
is
al
 

fo
r 
16
-1
8 
H
ig
h
 

T
o
w
n
, H

er
ef
o
rd
 

(b
u
rn
t 
o
u
t 
sh

o
p
s 

ad
ja
ce
n
t 
to
 O
ld
 

H
o
u
se
) 

T
o 
co

ns
id
er
 w
hi
ch

 o
pt
io
n 
is
 

ap
pr
op

ria
te
 fo

r 
th
e 
co

un
ci
l t
o 

ad
op

t i
n 
re
la
tio

n 
to
 th

es
e 

pr
op

er
tie

s 

W
ill
im

on
t, 
M
ar
c 

08
-S

ep
-

15
 

S
ep

t 
O
ve

rv
ie
w
 

an
d 
S
cr
ut
in
y 

E
co

no
m
y,
 

C
om

m
un

iti
es

 
&
 C
or
po

ra
te
 

P
et
er
 

R
ob

in
so

n 
  

K
ey

 

R
ev

is
io
n
 t
o
 t
h
e 

C
o
u
n
ci
l t
ax
 

R
ed

u
ct
io
n
 S
ch

em
e 

to
 a
gr
ee

 th
e 
co

un
ci
l t
ax

 r
ed

uc
tio

n 
sc

he
m
e 
fo
r 
20

16
-1
7 

A
nn

e 
B
ra
db

ur
y 

10
-S

ep
-

15
 

S
ep

t 
C
ab

in
et
 

M
em

be
r 
- 

In
fr
as

tr
uc

tu
re
 

E
co

no
m
y,
 

C
om

m
un

iti
es

 
&
 C
or
po

ra
te
  

E
co

no
m
y,
 

C
om

m
un

iti
es

 
&
 C

or
po

ra
te
  

P
ric

e,
 P
hi
lip

 
K
ey

 
R
o
th
er
w
as
 R
ai
l 

T
o 
co

ns
id
er
 w
he

th
er
 o
r 
no

t t
o 

pr
og

re
ss

 fe
as

ib
ili
ty
 o
n 
th
e 

R
ot
he

rw
as

 R
ai
l p

ro
po

sa
l a

nd
 

dr
aw

 d
ow

n 
up

 to
 £
12

5k
 fr
om

 
C
ou

nc
il 
re
se

rv
es

 

B
ur
ge

ss
, S

te
ve

 

11
-S

ep
-

15
 

S
ep

t 
C
ab

in
et
 

C
hi
ld
re
n'
s 

Y
ou

ng
 

P
eo

pl
e 
&
 

C
hi
ld
re
n'
s 

W
el
lb
ei
ng

 

Le
st
er
, 

Jo
na

th
an

 
B
ud

ge
t 

an
d 

P
ol
ic
y 

F
ra
m
ew

or
k 
 

Y
o
u
th
 J
u
st
ic
e 
P
la
n
 

T
o 
ap

pr
ov

e 
th
e 
Y
ou

th
 J
us

tic
e 

P
la
n 
fo
r 
15

/1
6 

Jo
 D
av

id
so

n 

11
-S

ep
-

15
 

S
ep

t 
C
ab

in
et
 

C
hi
ld
re
n'
s 

Y
ou

ng
 

P
eo

pl
e 
&
 

C
hi
ld
re
n'
s 

W
el
lb
ei
ng

 

Le
st
er
, 

Jo
na

th
an

 
B
ud

ge
t 

an
d 

P
ol
ic
y 

F
ra
m
ew

or
k 
 

C
h
ild

re
n
 a
n
d
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
eo

p
le
's
 P
la
n
  

T
o 
ap

pr
ov

e 
th
e 
ch

ild
re
n 
an

d 
yo

un
g 
pe

op
le
's
 p
la
n 

C
hr
is
 B
ai
rd
 

91



11
-S

ep
-

15
 

S
ep

t 
C
ab

in
et
 

C
hi
ld
re
n'
s 

Y
ou

ng
 

P
eo

pl
e 
&
 

C
hi
ld
re
n'
s 

W
el
lb
ei
ng

 

Le
st
er
, 

Jo
na

th
an

 
K
ey

 
C
o
lw
al
l P

ri
m
ar
y 

S
ch

o
o
l 

T
o 
ap

pr
ov

e 
th
e 
re
pl
ac

em
en

t 
C
ol
w
al
l P

rim
ar
y 
S
ch

oo
l b

ui
ld
in
g 
 

A
nd

y 
H
ou

gh
 

11
-S

ep
-

15
 

S
ep

t 
C
ab

in
et
  

C
hi
ld
re
n'
s 

Y
ou

ng
 

P
eo

pl
e 
&
 

C
hi
ld
re
n'
s 

W
el
lb
ei
ng

 

Le
st
er
, 

Jo
na

th
an

 
K
ey

 
A
d
u
lt
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y 

L
ea
rn
in
g
 P
la
n
 

20
15

/1
6 

T
o 
ap

pr
ov

e 
th
e 
ad

ul
t c

om
m
un

ity
 

le
ar
ni
ng

 p
la
n 
20

15
/1
6 

H
ea

th
, A

le
xi
a 

17
-S

ep
-

15
 

S
ep

t 

C
ab

in
et
 

M
em

be
r 

T
ra
ns

po
rt
 &
 

R
oa

ds
 

E
co

no
m
y,
 

C
om

m
un

iti
es

 
&
 C
or
po

ra
te
 

T
ra
ns

po
rt
 &
 

R
oa

ds
 

R
on

e,
 P
au

l 
N
on

 k
ey

 
H
ig
h
 T
o
w
n
 

R
ef
u
rb
is
h
m
en

t 
S
ch

em
e 

T
o 
ap

pr
ov

e 
sc

he
m
e 
fo
r 

co
ns

ul
ta
tio

n 
 

La
ne

, M
ai
re
ad

 

25
-S

ep
-

15
 

S
ep

t 
C
ou

nc
il 

C
hi
ld
re
n'
s 

Y
ou

ng
 

P
eo

pl
e 
&
 

C
hi
ld
re
n'
s 

W
el
lb
ei
ng

 

Le
st
er
, 

Jo
na

th
an

 
B
ud

ge
t 

an
d 

P
ol
ic
y 

F
ra
m
ew

or
k 
 

Y
o
u
th
 J
u
st
ic
e 
P
la
n
 

T
o 
ap

pr
ov

e 
th
e 
Y
ou

th
 J
us

tic
e 

P
la
n 
fo
r 
15

/1
6 

Jo
 D
av

id
so

n 

25
-S

ep
-

15
 

S
ep

t 
C
ou

nc
il 

C
hi
ld
re
n'
s 

Y
ou

ng
 

P
eo

pl
e 
&
 

C
hi
ld
re
n'
s 

W
el
lb
ei
ng

 

Le
st
er
, 

Jo
na

th
an

 
B
ud

ge
t 

an
d 

P
ol
ic
y 

F
ra
m
ew

or
k 
 

C
h
ild

re
n
 a
n
d
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
eo

p
le
's
 P
la
n
  

T
o 
ap

pr
ov

e 
th
e 
ch

ild
re
n 
an

d 
yo

un
g 
pe

op
le
's
 p
la
n 

C
hr
is
 B
ai
rd
 

30
-S

ep
-

15
 

S
ep

t 

C
ab

in
et
 

M
em

be
r 

C
on

tr
ac

ts
 &
 

A
ss

et
s 

E
co

no
m
y,
 

C
om

m
un

iti
es

 
&
 C
or
po

ra
te
  

C
on

tr
ac

ts
 &
 

A
ss

et
s 

B
ra
m
er
, 

H
ar
ry
 

K
ey

 

D
is
p
o
sa
l o

f 
la
n
d
 

w
it
h
in
 t
h
e 

E
n
te
rp
ri
se
 Z
o
n
e 
at
 

th
e 
S
o
u
th
 M

ag
az
in
e 

T
o 
se

ek
 th

e 
ap

pr
ov

al
 o
f t
he

 
C
ab

in
et
 M

em
be

r 
co

nt
ra
ct
s 
an

d 
as

se
ts
 to

 th
e 
di
sp

os
al
 o
f 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t l
an

d 
on

 th
e 

E
nt
er
pr
is
e 
Z
on

e 
at
 th

e 
S
ou

th
 

M
ag

az
in
e,
 fo

r 
th
e 
re
lo
ca

tio
n 
an

d 
 

ex
pa

ns
io
n 
of
 a
n 
ad

va
nc

ed
 

m
an

uf
ac

tu
rin

g 
bu

si
ne

ss
 

P
ea

rc
e,
 M

ar
k 

15
-O

ct
-

15
 

O
ct
 

C
ab

in
et
 

A
du

lts
 &
 

W
el
lb
ei
ng

 

C
ab

in
et
 

M
em

be
r 

H
ea

lth
 &
 

W
el
lb
ei
ng

  

C
ab

in
et
 

N
on

 K
ey

 
L
o
ca
l A

cc
o
u
n
t 

T
o 
re
ce

iv
e 
a 
co

py
 o
f t
he

 L
oc

al
 

A
cc

ou
nt
 fo

r 
si
gn

 o
ff,
 fo

llo
w
in
g 

di
sc

us
si
on

 a
t D

LT
, L

ea
de

rs
 

B
rie

fin
g 
an

d 
H
O
S
C
 

H
ar
ris

, P
au

l 

15
-O

ct
-

15
 

O
ct
 

C
ab

in
et
 

E
co

no
m
y,
 

C
om

m
un

iti
es

 
&
 C
or
po

ra
te
 

P
et
er
 

R
ob

in
so

n 
ke

y 

K
ey

 

R
ev

is
io
n
 t
o
 t
h
e 

C
o
u
n
ci
l t
ax
 

R
ed

u
ct
io
n
 S
ch

em
e 

to
 a
gr
ee

 th
e 
co

un
ci
l t
ax

 r
ed

uc
tio

n 
sc

he
m
e 
fo
r 
20

16
-1
7 

A
nn

e 
B
ra
db

ur
y 

15
-O

ct
-

15
 

O
ct
 

C
ab

in
et
  

H
ea

lth
 &
 

W
el
lb
ei
ng

 
  

M
or
ga

n,
 

P
at
ric

ia
 

K
ey

 
R
ev

is
io
n
s 
to
 t
h
e 

H
er
ef
o
rd
sh

ir
e 

A
llo

ca
ti
o
n
 P
o
lic

y 

T
o 
ap

pr
ov

e 
am

en
dm

en
ts
 to

 th
e 

ho
us

in
g 
al
lo
ca

tio
n 
po

lic
y 

C
on

no
n,
 T
re
a 

92



21
-O

ct
-

15
 

O
ct
 

C
ab

in
et
 

M
em

be
r 

H
ea

lth
 &
 

W
el
lb
ei
ng

 
  

M
or
ga

n,
 

P
at
ric

ia
 

N
on

 k
ey

 

A
g
re
em

en
t 
fo
r 
th
e 

p
ro
vi
si
o
n
 o
f 

te
m
p
o
ra
ry
 

ac
co

m
m
o
d
at
io
n
 f
o
r 

th
e 
h
o
m
el
es

ss
 

T
o 
ap

pr
ov

e 
ag

re
em

en
ts
 w
ith

 
ho

us
in
g 
pr
ov

id
er
s 
fo
r 
th
e 
us

e 
of
 

st
oc

k 
as

 te
m
po

ra
ry
 h
ou

si
ng

.  
C
on

no
n,
 T
re
a 

05
-N

ov
-

15
 

N
ov

 
C
ab

in
et
 

C
or
po

ra
te
 

S
tr
at
eg

y 
&
 

F
in
an

ce
 

E
co

no
m
y,
 

C
om

m
un

iti
es

 
&
 C

or
po

ra
te
 

Jo
hn

so
n,
 

A
nt
ho

ny
 

N
on

 K
ey

 
A
u
g
u
st
 b
u
d
g
et
 

m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 r
ep

o
rt
 

T
o 
re
po

rt
 th

e 
fin

an
ci
al
 p
os

iti
on

 o
f 

th
e 
C
ou

nc
il 
fo
r 
bo

th
 r
ev

en
ue

 a
nd

 
ca

pi
ta
l 

R
ob

in
so

n,
 P
et
er
 

05
-N

ov
-

15
 

N
ov

 
C
ab

in
et
 

E
co

no
m
y,
 

C
om

m
un

iti
es

 
an

d 
C
or
po

ra
te
 

C
on

tr
ac

ts
 &
 

A
ss

et
s 

B
ra
m
er
, 

H
ar
ry
 

K
ey

 
R
ev

ie
w
 o
f 
S
m
al
l 

H
o
ld
in
g
s 
E
st
at
e 

T
o 
se

ek
 C
ab

in
et
 a
pp

ro
va

l f
or
 

fu
tu
re
 m

an
ag

em
en

t a
rr
an

ge
m
en

ts
 

fo
r 
th
e 
C
ou

nc
ils
 s
m
al
l h

ol
di
ng

s 
es

ta
te
 

F
ea

th
er
st
on

e,
 

T
on

y 

24
-N
ov
-

15
 

N
ov
 

A
ud
it 
&
 

G
ov
er
na
nc
e 

C
om

m
itt
ee
 

E
co
no
m
y,
 

C
om

m
un
iti
es
 

&
 C
or
po
ra
te
  

E
co
no
m
y,
 

C
om

m
un
iti
es
 

&
 C
or
po
ra
te
  

H
ug
he
s,
 

G
eo
ff 

N
on
 K
ey
 

E
n
er
g
y 
fr
o
m
 w
as
te
 

lo
an

 u
p
d
at
e 

T
o 
up
da
te
 A
&
G
C
 o
n 
th
e 

pr
og
re
ss
io
n 
of
 th
e 
en
er
gy
 fr
om

 
w
as
te
 lo
an
 a
nd
 a
ss
oc
ia
te
d 
ris
k 

re
gi
st
er
 

R
us
hg
ro
ve
, J
os
ie
 

03
-D

ec
-

15
 

D
ec

 
C
ab

in
et
 

C
or
po

ra
te
 

S
tr
at
eg

y 
&
 

F
in
an

ce
 

E
co

no
m
y,
 

C
om

m
un

iti
es

 
&
 C

or
po

ra
te
 

Jo
hn

so
n,
 

A
nt
ho

ny
 

N
on

 K
ey

 
S
ep

te
m
b
er
 b
u
d
g
et
 

m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 r
ep

o
rt
 

T
o 
re
po

rt
 th

e 
fin

an
ci
al
 p
os

iti
on

 o
f 

th
e 
C
ou

nc
il 
fo
r 
bo

th
 r
ev

en
ue

 a
nd

 
ca

pi
ta
l 

R
ob

in
so

n,
 P
et
er
 

03
-D

ec
-

15
 

D
ec

 
C
ab

in
et
 

E
co

no
m
y 
&
 

C
or
po

ra
te
 

S
er
vi
ce

s 

E
co

no
m
y,
 

C
om

m
un

iti
es

 
&
 C

or
po

ra
te
 

P
ow

el
l, 

G
ra
ha

m
 

N
on

 K
ey

 
Q
u
ar
te
r 
tw

o
 

co
rp
o
ra
te
 

p
er
fo
rm

an
ce

 r
ep

o
rt
 

T
o 
re
vi
ew

 p
er
fo
rm

an
ce

 
B
al
l, 
R
ic
ha

rd
 

03
-D

ec
-

15
 

D
ec

 
C
ab

in
et
  

A
du

lts
 &
 

W
el
lb
ei
ng

 

C
ab

in
et
 

M
em

be
r 

H
ea

lth
 &
 

W
el
lb
ei
ng

  

C
ab

in
et
 

K
ey

 
H
o
u
si
n
g
 S
tr
at
eg

y 
20
15
-2
01

8 
T
o 
ap

pr
ov

e 
H
ou

si
ng

 S
tr
at
eg

y 
20

15
-2
01

8 
 

S
an

di
e 
R
og

er
s 

03
-D

ec
-

15
 

D
ec

 
C
ab

in
et
  

C
hi
ld
re
n'
s 

W
el
lb
ei
ng

  

Y
ou

ng
 

P
eo

pl
e 
&
 

C
hi
ld
re
n'
s 

S
er
vi
ce

s 

C
ab

in
et
 

N
on

 K
ey

 

H
er
ef
o
rd
sh

ir
e 

S
af
eg

u
ar
d
in
g
 

B
o
ar
d
s 
B
u
si
n
es

s 
P
la
n
 a
n
d
 A
n
n
u
al
 

R
ep

o
rt
 

T
o 
in
fo
rm

 C
ab

in
et
 o
f p

ro
gr
es

s 
m
ad

e 
to
w
ar
ds

 th
e 
im

pl
em

en
ta
tio

n 
of
 th

e 
S
af
eg

ua
rd
in
g 
B
oa

rd
 

B
us

in
es

s 
P
la
n 
an

d 
A
nn

ua
l R

ep
or
t 

R
ou

gh
to
n,
 J
oh

n 

18
-D

ec
-

15
 

D
ec

 
C
ou

nc
il 

E
co

no
m
y,
 

C
om

m
un

iti
es

 
&
 C
or
po

ra
te
 

P
et
er
 

R
ob

in
so

n 
  

K
ey

 

R
ev

is
io
n
 t
o
 t
h
e 

C
o
u
n
ci
l t
ax
 

R
ed

u
ct
io
n
 S
ch

em
e 

to
 a
gr
ee

 th
e 
co

un
ci
l t
ax

 r
ed

uc
tio

n 
sc

he
m
e 
fo
r 
20

16
-1
7 

A
nn

e 
B
ra
db

ur
y 

21
-J
an

-
16

 
Ja

n 
C
ab

in
et
 

C
or
po

ra
te
 

S
tr
at
eg

y 
&
 

F
in
an

ce
 

E
co

no
m
y,
 

C
om

m
un

iti
es

 
&
 C

or
po

ra
te
 

Jo
hn

so
n,
 

A
nt
ho

ny
 

N
on

 K
ey

 
N
o
ve

m
b
er
 b
u
d
g
et
 

m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 r
ep

o
rt
 

T
o 
re
po

rt
 th

e 
fin

an
ci
al
 p
os

iti
on

 o
f 

th
e 
C
ou

nc
il 
fo
r 
bo

th
 r
ev

en
ue

 a
nd

 
ca

pi
ta
l 

R
ob

in
so

n,
 P
et
er
 

11
-F
eb

-
16

 
F
eb

 
C
ab

in
et
 

C
or
po

ra
te
 

S
tr
at
eg

y 
&
 

F
in
an

ce
 

E
co

no
m
y,
 

C
om

m
un

iti
es

 
&
 C

or
po

ra
te
 

Jo
hn

so
n,
 

A
nt
ho

ny
 

N
on

 K
ey

 
D
ec
em

b
er
 b
u
d
g
et
 

m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 r
ep

o
rt
 

T
o 
re
po

rt
 th

e 
fin

an
ci
al
 p
os

iti
on

 o
f 

th
e 
C
ou

nc
il 
fo
r 
bo

th
 r
ev

en
ue

 a
nd

 
ca

pi
ta
l 

R
ob

in
so

n,
 P
et
er
 

11
-F
eb

-
16

 
F
eb

 
C
ab

in
et
 

E
co

no
m
y 
&
 

C
or
po

ra
te
 

S
er
vi
ce

s 

E
co

no
m
y 
&
 

C
or
po

ra
te
 

S
er
vi
ce

s 

P
ow

el
l, 

G
ra
ha

m
 

N
on

 K
ey

 
Q
u
ar
te
r 
th
re
e 

co
rp
o
ra
te
 

p
er
fr
o
m
an

ce
 r
ep

o
rt
 

T
o 
re
vi
ew

 p
er
fo
rm

an
ce

 
B
al
l, 
R
ic
ha

rd
 

 

93



94



 

Does this issue have a potential impact for 
one or more section(s) of the population of 

Herefordshire? 

Is the issue strategic and significant? 

Will the scrutiny activity add value to the 
Council’s and/or its partners’ overall 

performance? 

NONONONO    

Is it likely to lead to effective outcomes? 

YESYESYESYES    

YESYESYESYES    

YESYESYESYES    
NONONONO    

NONONONO    

Will Scrutiny involvement be duplicating 
some other work? 

 

YESYESYESYES    

Is it an issue of concern to partners and 
stakeholders? 

 

NONONONO    

Is it an issue of community concern? 

Is the Scrutiny activity timely and capable 
of being resourced? 

NONONONO    

LEAVE OUTLEAVE OUTLEAVE OUTLEAVE OUT    
    

PUT INTO WORK PUT INTO WORK PUT INTO WORK PUT INTO WORK 
PROGRAMMEPROGRAMMEPROGRAMMEPROGRAMME    
High Priority 

CONSIDERCONSIDERCONSIDERCONSIDER    
Low Priority 

YESYESYESYES    

NONONONO    

NONONONO    
YESYESYESYES    

YESYESYESYES    

95



96


	Agenda
	
	4 Minutes
	7 Wye Valley NHS Trust
	QUARTER 1

	8 Mental Health Services Integrated Pathway
	Presentation to HOSC and H&WB July 2015

	9 Children and Young Peoples Plan
	004a CYPP Plan - Executive Summary - Appendix 1
	004a CYPP Plan - CYPP Plan - Appendix  2

	11 Work Programme
	Draft HOSC work programme July 2015
	Forward Plan Appendix 2
	Appendix 3_Topic selection criteria flowchart


